DIGITAL COMMONS @ UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH FLORIDA

University of South Florida Digital Commons @ University of South Florida

USF Tampa Graduate Theses and Dissertations

USF Graduate Theses and Dissertations

January 2013

Metabolism in corals from Antarctica, the deep-sea, and the shallow subtropics: contrasts in temperature, depth, and light

Lara Henry University of South Florida, lvhenry@mail.usf.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.usf.edu/etd

Part of the Other Oceanography and Atmospheric Sciences and Meteorology Commons

Scholar Commons Citation

Henry, Lara, "Metabolism in corals from Antarctica, the deep-sea, and the shallow subtropics: contrasts in temperature, depth, and light" (2013). *USF Tampa Graduate Theses and Dissertations*. https://digitalcommons.usf.edu/etd/4903

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the USF Graduate Theses and Dissertations at Digital Commons @ University of South Florida. It has been accepted for inclusion in USF Tampa Graduate Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons @ University of South Florida. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@usf.edu.

Metabolism in Corals from Antarctica, the Deep-Sea, and the Shallow Subtropics: Contrasts in

Temperature, Depth, and Light

by

Lara V. Henry

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy College of Marine Science University of South Florida

Major Professor: Joseph J. Torres, Ph.D. Pamela Hallock Muller, Ph.D. Mya Breitbart, Ph.D. Charles R. Fisher, Ph.D. Erik E. Cordes, Ph.D.

Date of Approval: December 2, 2013

Keywords: coral, metabolism, respiration, temperature, depth, light

Copyright © 2013, Lara V. Henry

Table of Contents

List of Tables			
List of Figures	iv		
List of Acronyms	v		
Abstract	vi		
Chapter One: Introduction	1		
History	1		
Symbiosis in modern corals	2		
Deep-sea and cold-water corals	4		
Objectives	6		
References	7		
Chapter Two: The Effects of Symbiosis on Coral Metabolism			
Abstract			
Introduction			
Materials and Methods	15		
Collection			
Oxygen consumption experiments			
Enzyme analyses			
Results.			
Discussion			
Acknowledgments			
References			
Tables and Figures			
Chapter Three: The Effects of Temperature on Coral Metabolism	29		
Abstract	29		
Introduction	30		
Materials and Methods	32		
Collection	32		
Oxygen consumption experiments	33		
Enzyme analyses	35		
Results	35		
Oxygen consumption			

Metabolic enzymes	
O:N ratios	
Discussion	
Acknowledgments	
References	
Tables and Figures	47
Chapter Four: Metabolism of an Antarctic Solitary Coral, <i>Flabellum impensum</i>	49
A Note to Reader	49
Abstract	49
Introduction	
Materials and Methods	51
Collection	
Oxygen consumption experiments	
Enzyme analyses	
Skeletal observations	
Results	54
Discussion	
Acknowledgments	
References	60
Tables and Figures	64
Chapter Five: Concluding Remarks	67
Appendix I	70
About the Author	End Page

List of Tables

Table 2.1: Oxygen respiration, nitrogen excretion, and enzyme activities for normal and bleached <i>C. arbuscula</i>		27	
Table 3.1:	Summary of data from all treatment groups	47	
Table 4.1:	Respiration and enzymes in comparable cnidarians	66	

List of Figures

Figure 2.1:	Bleaching over time	27
Figure 2.2:	Metabolic rates of various cnidarians	28
Figure 3.1:	Wet mass versus oxygen consumption at 11 and 13°C	47
Figure 3.2:	Lophelia within the metabolic spectrum of cnidarians	48
Figure 4.1:	A close-up of a specimen of <i>F. impensum</i>	64
Figure 4.2:	<i>F. impensum</i> respiration and nitrogen excretion rates in relation to wet mass	64
Figure 4.3:	The "dirty" versus "clean" side of the calyx of an F. impensum specimen	65

List of Acronyms

LDH	Lactate dehydrogenase
MDH	Malate dehydrogenase
CS	Citrate synthase
pCO ₂	Partial pressure of carbon dioxide
PO ₂	Oxygen partial pressure
Pc	Critical oxygen partial pressure
Q ₁₀	Temperature coefficient
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
NOAA	National Oceanic and Atmospheric Association
ROV	Remotely operated vehicle
RVIB	Research vessel/icebreaker

Abstract

Coral habitats span the range from tropical to polar, extremely shallow to thousands of meters deep. The differences in light and temperature experienced in these varied habitats likely affect the metabolic rates of the corals residing there. The metabolism of three coral species from different habitats have been examined to elucidate the effects of these environmental parameters on metabolism, an under-studied aspect of coral biology. For all three species, measurements of oxygen uptake, ammonium excretion, and activity of the enzymes lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), malate dehydrogenase (MDH), and citrate synthase (CS) were used to characterize their metabolism. Off Florida's Gulf coast, *Cladocora arbuscula* is known to be one of the species least damaged by bleaching events and is one of the quickest to recover, making it an ideal candidate for studying the effects of symbionts. The first set of experiments was designed to reveal the effect of disrupting the coral-algal symbiosis between this subtropical shallow-water coral and its dinoflagellate symbiont, Symbiodinium. The metabolic effects were described for "normal" C. arbuscula and those "bleached" by being held in total darkness for 4 months. Normal C. arbuscula had a relatively low rate of oxygen consumption at 21°C, averaging 2.43 \pm 0.65 µmol O₂ g_{wm}⁻¹ h⁻¹ (\pm S.E.), using tissue wet mass, while the bleached colonies had an average rate of 2.46 \pm 0.49 µmol O₂ g_{wm}⁻¹ h⁻¹. Ammonium excretion averaged 0.07 ± 0.02 and 0.10 ± 0.03 µmol NH₄⁺ g_{wm}⁻¹ h⁻¹ (±S.E.) for normal and bleached *C. arbuscula*, respectively. The activity values of the metabolic enzymes citrate synthase (CS) fell within the normal range expected for a cnidarian, averaging around 0.09 ± 0.02 activity units (U) g_{wm}^{-1} for

vi

both treatments, indicating normal aerobic ability. MDH was extremely high for the normal corals, compared to other enidarians, averaging $2.5\pm0.4 \text{ Ug}_{wm}^{-1}$, and a bit lower for the bleached corals, averaging $1.2\pm0.3 \text{ Ug}_{wm}^{-1}$, indicating high MDH activity during both normoxia and hypoxia. LDH activity, also high, averaged $1.3\pm0.2 \text{ Ug}_{wm}^{-1}$ for both treatments, indicating anaerobic competence. These experiments show that *C. arbuscula* is adept at maintaining almost completely normal metabolic function when bleached, although the corals quickly become reinoculated with symbionts upon return to normal light conditions in a tank with normal corals.

The second set of experiments served to characterize the metabolism of *Lophelia pertusa*, an azooxanthellate cold-water coral that thrives in water depths between 36 and 3383 m. L. pertusa is rather stenothermal, commonly found between 6-8°C, but in the Gulf of Mexico can be subjected to warm water incursions. This makes it an ideal candidate for the examination of the effects of temperature. L. pertusa exhibited a respiration rate of 1.14 μ mol O₂ g_{wm}⁻¹ h⁻¹ at the control temperature of 8°C. Calculating the Q_{10} for bringing L. pertusa up to the environmental temperature of C. arbuscula results in a value of 1.8. The 11°C treatment group exhibited an 11% increase in respiration, while at 13°C, the corals showed a 23% rise from normal. The 5°C group showed a 32% decrease in respiration. The activity values of the metabolic enzyme citrate synthase (CS) fell into the normal range expected for a cnidarian, averaging 0.15, 0.20, 0.10, and 0.18 activity units (U) g_{wm}⁻¹ for the 8°C, 11°C, 13°C, and 5°C treatments, respectively. Malate dehydrogenase (MDH) values were unexpectedly high, averaging 2.05, 1.48, 1.48, and 1.82U g_{wm}⁻¹ for the 8°C, 11°C, 13°C, and 5°C treatments, respectively. Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) was undetectable in this species, suggesting it has a different terminal glycolytic enzyme. Nonetheless, the other two enzymes indicate metabolic competence in both normoxic and

hypoxic conditions. *L. pertusa* is adaptable to temperatures within its range, although its respiration rate is lower than that of tropical corals.

The third set of experiments characterized the metabolism of the endemic Antarctic coral *Flabellum impensum*, one of the world's largest solitary corals. It resides at roughly the same depths as *L. pertusa*, but the water temperature in its habitat never strays far from 0°C. *F. impensum* had a low rate of oxygen consumption at 0°C, averaging 0.31 μ mol O₂ g⁻¹ h⁻¹, calculated using tissue wet mass. Calculating a Q₁₀ for this species at *C. arbuscula*'s habitat temperature results in a value of 2.7. Ammonium excretion averaged 4.21 nmol NH₄⁺ g_{wm}⁻¹ h⁻¹. The activity values of the metabolic enzymes citrate synthase (CS), malate dehydrogenase (MDH), and lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) fell within the normal range expected for a cnidarian, averaging 0.13, 1.01, and 0.42 activity units (U) g_{wm}⁻¹, respectively. A count of the skeletal growth bands on the calyx suggests that this species has a linear extension rate of approximately 1 mm per year. *F. impensum* is a long-lived, slow-growing coral, with a low metabolic rate.

Chapter One:

Introduction

History

Coral reefs have been evolving for 260 million years, having survived and transformed through major climatic changes and mass extinctions (Grigg, 1994; Brown, 1997). Scleractinia, or stony corals, first appeared in the fossil record sometime during the mid-Triassic and their diversity fluctuated throughout geologic time, with loss of a majority of taxa following the K-T mass extinction (Stanley and Swart, 1995; Stanley, 2003). Some late Triassic Scleractinia were zooxanthellate, although this symbiosis was probably not as efficient as it is in modern corals (Stanley and Swart, 1995; Leinfelder, 2001). It can be presumed that the symbiotic relationship between stony corals and zooxanthellae is what eventually allowed them to flourish and become an ecologically significant component of the reef framework. Scleractinians were a diverse and noteworthy presence on reefs throughout the Mesozoic era and their diversity rebounded during the Eocene; zooxanthellate Scleractinia did not become the dominant reef-builder until the Oligocene, coincident with declining atmospheric carbon dioxide (Pomar and Hallock, 2007).

The first deep-water reef frameworks formed by azooxanthellate corals started to appear in the Cretaceous period and although the K-T extinction also devastated these corals, it was to a lesser degree than experienced by zooxanthellate corals (Stanley and Cairns, 1988; Roberts et al., 2009). It took four million years for the diversity of zooxanthellate scleractinians to return to the level of diversity of the more extinction-resistant azooxanthellate corals (Rosen and Turnšek,

1989; Rosen, 2000; Kiessling and Baron-Szabo, 2004). Today, the family Caryophylliidae contains the highest diversity of azooxanthellate deep-water corals (Roberts et al., 2009), such as *Lophelia pertusa*, as well as a large number of zooxanthellate species, such as another coral of interest to this study, *Cladocora arbuscula*. Like *L. pertusa*, the third coral examined in this study, *Flabellum impensum* (family: Flabellidae), is also azooxanthellate.

Symbiosis in modern corals

Mutualism between an animal host and its algal symbionts evolved as a mechanism to maintain a competitive edge within an ecological niche, while faced with a low supply of food (Muscatine and Porter, 1977; Hallock and Schlager, 1986; Stanley and Swart, 1995; Muller-Parker and D'Elia, 1997). The general description of this symbiosis is that the autotrophic symbiont recycles inorganic nutrients provided by its heterotrophic host's metabolism, and in combination with photosynthesis, ends up largely supplementing the host's energy requirements (Hallock. 1981; Stanley and Swart, 1995; Yellowlees et al., 2008). The three clades (A, B, and C) of the genus Symbiodinium are the most common photosynthetic dinoflagellates existing in symbiosis with a coral host (LaJeunesse, 2002). A variety of studies report that these zooxanthellae provide anywhere from 32% to 92% of their hosts' daily metabolic needs (Beck, 1982), but in the tropics, shallow-water corals thrive in well-lit waters where the photosynthetic contributions of their symbionts can exceed their metabolic requirements (Piniak, 2002). Indeed, zooxanthellae allow corals access to orders of magnitude more carbon than would typically be available to a heterotroph (Beck, 1982; Hallock, 1981, 2001), so the success of zooxanthellate corals in nutrient-limited environments can be attributed to the energetic advantage bestowed upon the corals by their symbionts (Stanley and Swart, 1995; Stanley, 2003). In addition to utilizing carbon provided by their symbionts, zooxanthellate corals experience differences in

growth, metabolism, and ability to acclimate to environmental changes as a result of this mutualism (Reed, 1982; Gates and Edmunds, 1999; Muller-Parker and D'Elia, 1997; Hallock, 2001).

There is generally little knowledge about the intricacies of the physiological interactions between a symbiont and its scleractinian host (Gates and Edmunds, 1999) and there are no studies to this author's knowledge addressing these aspects in regard to the metabolism of C. arbuscula. The genus Cladocora is comprised of species whose associations with Symbiodinium span the range from obligately zooxanthellate to azooxanthellate. C. arbuscula is a zooxanthellate coral while a similar species, C. debilis, with which C. arbuscula is often confused, is azooxanthellate, resides at greater depth, and has a much larger geographic range (Cairns, 2000; Alvarez-Perez 2005). C. arbuscula is host to type B1 Symbiodinium, S. pulchrorum/bermudense (LaJeunesse, 2002), which have a high acclimatization capacity throughout a large range of irradiance levels (Iglesias-Prieto and Trench, 1997). Goreau (1959) observed calcification rates of C. arbuscula and found that these rates did not change much whether the corals were held in the light or dark, suggesting that this coral is not highly dependent upon its symbionts for skeletal formation. C. arbuscula can survive and reproduce after being held for over eighteen months in complete darkness in the laboratory, subsisting only on a weekly feeding of Artemia franciscana nauplii (personal observation), which is further evidence that the symbiosis is somewhat decoupled in this species and it is likely a facultative relationship.

Buddemeier and Fautin (1993) noted that the degree of specificity a host has for a certain symbiont type may be the determining factor of that host's capability to acclimate to long-term environmental changes. One way around this is that some corals have a more loose association

with their symbionts, with many temperate species being facultatively zooxanthellate and dissociating from the mutualistic relationship altogether as light levels become too low to support photosynthesis (Miller, 1995). In fact, Reed (1982) found that zooxanthellate *Oculina varicosa* living at 6 m depth actually have a lower growth rate than the azooxanthellate colonies living at 80 m depth, indicating that symbionts, despite their benefits, impose a metabolic cost to their hosts (Muller-Parker and D'Elia, 1997). In another species of *Oculina, O. arbuscula*, growth rates are maximal when the coral can benefit from a combination of heterotrophy and supplemental energy via zooxanthellae (Piniak, 2002). Another strategy that some corals may employ is to alter the constituents of their symbiont population, trading out some members of one type for those of another to optimize the combined physiological performance of the host and zooxanthellae for different environmental conditions (Gates and Edmunds, 1999). The ability of a coral to use any of these strategies and the degree to which the coral can control its trophic condition is likely unique to each coral-symbiont partnership.

Deep-sea and cold-water corals

Deep-sea and shallow-water corals share many similarities in that they occur in both colonial and solitary forms, exhibit a variety of colors, sizes and shapes, are hosts to many associated fauna, and include reef-building species (Jensen and Frederiksen, 1992; Mortensen et al., 1995; Roberts and Hirshfield, 2004). Although thousands of deep-sea corals have been described, researchers estimate that 800 stony species and their associated fauna have yet to be encountered (Roberts and Hirshfield, 2004). Twenty of the 703 known species of deep-sea stony corals form reefs (Roberts and Hirshfield, 2004). Deep-sea corals represent an important ecological niche in that they protect inhabitants from currents and predators, act as a nursery habitat, and provide feeding, breeding, and spawning ground for economically valuable fish and shellfish (Jensen and Frederiksen, 1992; Mortensen et al., 1995; Roberts and Hirshfield, 2004). *L. pertusa* reefs exist worldwide, except at the poles (Zibrowius 1980; Cairns 1994) and some living reefs are estimated to be thousands of years old (based on the coral's slow growth rate compared to some shallow-water coral) (Freiwald et al., 2002).

Despite the evolutionary success conferred upon shallow-water corals by their symbiosis with photoautotrophic dinoflagellates, about 3300 (65%) documented species of corals are azooxanthellate and live in deep, cold waters, well below the photic zone, from 50-6000 m (Roberts and Hirshfield, 2004; Roberts et al., 2009; Etnoyer, 2010). There have not been many studies of deep-sea corals in their natural state, so their biology and ecology are still poorly understood. Although there is limited knowledge about the global distribution of deep-sea corals, most seem to occur on seamounts or the edges of continental margins, which are among the most diverse deep-sea habitats (Roberts and Hirshfield, 2004; Neulinger et al., 2008). One of the two dominant species of deep-living corals that occurs off the southeast coast of the United States is L. pertusa, which is pseudo-colonial and stenothermal, as well as one of the most widespread deep-sea corals (Rogers, 1999; Neulinger et al., 2008). The other dominant coral is the facultatively zooxanthellate O. varicosa, which occurs in both shallow and deep water (Reed, 2002). Seventeen species of scleractinian corals occur in Antarctic waters. As is true of most high-latitude corals, all Antarctic species, such as the solitary F. impensum, are azooxanthellate due to the low temperatures and seasonal swings in irradiance typical of the Antarctic system (Cairns, 1990).

Because *L. pertusa* and *F. impensum* are azooxanthellate, they depend upon the capture of plankton and detritus for nutrition. This, along with the fact that deep-sea corals experience lower temperatures and higher pressure, suggests that they might have a lower metabolic rate

than shallow-water corals. Because *C. arbuscula* seems to have a somewhat looser association with its zooxanthellae than other corals with which it co-occurs, it may also have a more flexible metabolism to accommodate varying symbiont populations.

Objectives

The purpose of this study was to explore the effects of light, temperature, and depth regime on the metabolic rates of corals. Techniques employed were measurements of respiration, ammonia excretion, and activity of the metabolic enzymes LDH, CS, and MDH. The zooxanthellate C. arbuscula was examined both with and without its symbionts to assess the effects of autotrophic contributions to host metabolism. Observations of the deep-sea, azooxanthellate L. pertusa at different temperatures also provided insight into the intricacies of coral metabolism. The azooxanthellate F. impensum was also included in the study to provide a polar representative for comparison. The literature contains a large range of linear extension estimates for L. pertusa and none exist for C. arbuscula or F. impensum. C. arbuscula probably has the highest metabolic rate due to its association with zooxanthellae; however, it seems less dependent on its symbionts for growth and survival compared to other tropical corals. Once the symbionts are expelled, these shallow-water corals may exhibit metabolic rates similar to that of deep-sea corals. Measuring these parameters allowed for a comparison of the metabolisms of these species and provided some insight as to what physiological effects a host coral experiences as a result of its symbiosis with Symbiodinium as well as over their temperature and depth distributions.

References

- Álvarez-Pérez G, Busquets P, De Mol B, Sandoval NG, Canals M, Casamor JL (2005) Deepwater coral occurrences in the Strait of Gibraltar. In: Freiwald, A. and Roberts, M. (eds.), Cold-Water Corals and Ecosystems. Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg pp 207-221.
- Brown BE (1997) Adaptation of reef corals to physical and environmental stress. *Adv Mar Biol* 31: 221-299.
- Buddemeier RW and Fautin DG (1993) Coral bleaching as an adaptive mechanism. *BioScience* 43: 320-326.
- Cairns SD (1990) Antarctic Scleractinia. In: Wagele, J.W., Sieg, J. (Eds.), Synopses of the Antarctic Benthos. Koeltz Scientific Books, Koenigstein, pp. 1-78.
- Cairns SD (1994) Scleractinia of the temperate North Pacific. Smithsonian Contributions to Zoology 557, Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington, D.C.
- Cairns SD (2000) A revision of the shallow-water azooxanthellate Scleractinia of the Western Atlantic. *Stud Nat Hist Carib Reg* 75: 1-240.
- Etnoyer PJ (2010) Deep-sea corals on seamounts. Oceanography 23(1): 128-129.
- Freiwald A, Hühnerbach V, Lindberg B, Wilson JB, Campbell J (2002) The Sula Reef complex, Norwegian Shelf. *Facies* 47: 179-200.
- Gates RD and Edmunds PJ (1999) The physiological mechanisms of acclimatization in tropical reef corals. *Amer Zool* 39:30-43.
- Goreau TF (1959) The physiology of skeleton formation in corals. I. A method for measuring the rate of calcium deposition by corals under different conditions. *Biol Bull* 116(1): 59-75.

Grigg RW (1994) Science management of the World's fragile coral-reefs. Coral Reefs 13(1): 1.

Hallock P (1981) Algal symbiosis: a mathematical analysis. Mar Biol 62: 249-255.

- Hallock P and Schlager W (1986) Nutrient Excess and the Demise of Coral Reefs and Carbonate Platforms. *Palaios* 1(4): 389-398.
- Hallock P (2001) Coral reefs, carbonate sediments, nutrients and global change. In: Stanley Jr.GD (ed.), The History and Sedimentology of Ancient Reef Systems. Kluwer AcademicPublishing/Plenum, New York, pp. 387-427.
- Iglesias-Prieto R, Trench RK (1997) Photoadaptation, photoacclimation and niche diversification in invertebrate-dinoflagellate symbioses. *Proc 8th Int Coral Reef Symp* 2: 1319-1324.
- Jensen A and Frederiksen R (1992) The fauna associated with the bank-forming deepwater coral Lophelia pertusa (Scleractinia) on the Faroe shelf. *Sarsia* 77(1): 53-69.
- Kiessling W and Baron-Szabo RC (2004) Extinction and recovery patterns of scleractinian corals at the Cretaceous-Tertiary boundary. *Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology* 214(3): 195-223.
- LaJeunesse TC (2002) Diversity and community structure of symbiotic dinoflagellates from Caribbean coral reefs. *Mar Biol* 141(2): 387-400.
- Leinfelder RR (2001) Jurassic reef ecosystems. In: Stanley Jr. GD (ed.), The History and Sedimentology of Ancient Reef Systems. Kluwer Academic Publishing/Plenum, New York, pp. 251-309.
- Miller MW (1995) Growth of a temperate coral: effects of temperature, light, depth, and heterotrophy. *Mar Ecol Prog Ser* 122:217-225.
- Mortensen PB, Hovland M, Brattegard T, Farestveit R (1995) Deep water bioherms of the scleractinian coral Lophelia pertusa (L.) at 64° n on the Norwegian shelf: Structure and associated megafauna. *Sarsia* 80(2): 145-158.

- Muller-Parker G and D'Elia CF (1997) Interactions between corals and their symbiotic algae.In: Birkeland C (ed.), Life and Death of Coral Reefs. Chapman and Hall, New York, pp. 96-113.
- Muscatine L and Porter JW (1977) Reef corals: mutualistic symbioses adapted to nutrient-poor environments. *BioScience* 27(7): 454-460.
- Neulinger SC, Järnegren J, Ludvigsen M, Lochte K, Dullo W-C (2008). Phenotype-specific bacterial communities in the cold-water coral *Lophelia pertusa* (Scleractinia) and their implications for the coral's nutrition, health, and distribution. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 74(23): 7272-7285.
- Piniak G (2002) Effects of symbiotic status, flow speed, and prey type on prey capture by the facultatively symbiotic temperate coral *Oculina arbuscula*. *Mar Biol* 141: 449-455.
- Pomar L and Hallock P (2007) Changes in coral-reef structure through the Miocene in the Mediterranean province: Adaptive versus environmental influence. *Geology* 35: 899–902.
- Reed JK (1982) *In situ* growth rates of the scleractinian coral *Oculina varicosa* occurring with zooxanthellae on 6 m reefs and without on 80 m banks. *Proc 4th Int Coral Reef Symp* 2: 201-206.
- Reed JK (2002) Deep-water *Oculina* coral reefs of Florida: biology, impacts, and management. *Hydrobiologia* 471: 43-55.
- Roberts JM, Wheeler AJ, Freiwald A, Cairns SD (2009) Cold-Water Corals: The Biology and Geology of Deep-Sea Coral Habitats. Cambridge University Press, New York
- Roberts S and Hirshfield M (2004) Deep-sea corals: out of sight, but no longer out of mind. *Ecol Environ* 2(3): 123-130.

- Rogers AD (1999) The biology of *Lophelia pertusa* (Linnaeus 1758) and other deep-water reefforming corals and impacts from human activities. *Internat Rev Hydrobiol* 84: 315-406.
- Rosen BR and Turnšek D (1989) Extinction patterns and biogeography of scleractinian corals across the Cretaceous/Tertiary boundary. Memoir of the Association of Australasian Palaeontologists 8: 355–370.
- Rosen BR (2000) Algal symbiosis, and the collapse and recovery of reef communities: Lazarus corals across the K–T boundary. In: Culver SJ and Rawson PF (Eds.), Biotic Response to Global Change: The Last 145 Million Years, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 164–180.
- Stanley Jr. GD and Cairns SD (1988) Constructional azooxanthellate coral communities: an overview with implications for the fossil record. *Palaios* 3: 233–242.
- Stanley Jr. GD and Swart PK (1995) Evolution of the Coral-Zooxanthellae Symbiosis During the Triassic: A Geochemical Approach. *Paleobiology* 21(2): 179-199.
- Stanley Jr. GD (2003) The evolution of modern corals and their early history. *Earth-Sci Rev* 60: 195-225.
- Yellowlees D, Rees TAV, Leggat W (2008). Metabolic interactions between algal symbionts and invertebrate hosts. *Plant Cell Environ* 31: 679-694.
- Zibrowius H (1980) Les scléractiniaires de la Méditerranée et de l'Atlantique nord-oriental. *Mém Inst Océanogr Monaco* 11:1-284.

Chapter Two:

The Effects of Symbiosis on Coral Metabolism

Abstract

Species of the scleractinian coral genus *Cladocora* span the range from azooxanthellate to obligately zooxanthellate in their associations with the genus Symbiodinium. The present study was designed to elucidate the effect of *Symbiodinium* symbiosis on the metabolism of a host coral, C. arbuscula. The effects of symbiosis were described for normal C. arbuscula and those bleached by being held in total darkness, with measurements of oxygen consumption rate and metabolic enzyme activity. C. arbuscula had a relatively low rate of oxygen consumption at 21°C, averaging 2.43±0.65 µmol O₂ g⁻¹ h⁻¹ (±S.E.), using tissue wet mass, while the bleached colonies had an average rate of 2.46 \pm 0.49 µmol O₂ g⁻¹ h⁻¹. Ammonium excretion averaged 0.07 ± 0.02 and 0.11 ± 0.03 µmol NH₄⁺ g⁻¹ h⁻¹ (±S.E.) for normal and bleached *C. arbuscula*, respectively, resulting in O:N ratios of about 55. The activity values of the metabolic enzymes citrate synthase (CS) fell within the normal range expected for a cnidarian, averaging about 0.09 activity units (U) g_{wm}⁻¹ for both treatments. Malate dehydrogenase (MDH), and lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) activities were high compared to other enidarians. MDH was extremely high for the normal corals, averaging 2.50 U g_{wm}^{-1} , and about half that for the bleached corals, averaging 1.20 U g_{wm}⁻¹. LDH activity averaged about 1.27 U g_{wm}⁻¹ for both treatments. C. arbuscula is adept at maintaining almost completely normal metabolic function when bleached,

it quickly regains zooxanthellae upon being returned to normal light conditions in a tank with normal corals.

Introduction

Mutualism between an animal host and its algal symbionts evolved as a mechanism to maintain a competitive edge within an ecological niche characterized by a low supply of food (Muscatine and Porter, 1977; Hallock, 1981; Muller-Parker and D'Elia, 1997; Stoecker, 1998). The seven clades (A, B, and C) of the genus Symbiodinium are the most common photosynthetic dinoflagellates existing in symbiosis with a coral host (LaJeunesse, 2002). A variety of studies report that these zooxanthellae provide anywhere from 32% to 92% of their hosts' daily metabolic needs (Beck, 1982; Cook et al., 1988; Gaydos, 2006), but in the tropics, shallow-water corals thrive in well-lit waters where the photosynthetic contributions of their symbionts can exceed their metabolic requirements (Johannes et al., 1970; Muscatine, 1990; Piniak, 2002). Indeed, zooxanthellae allow corals access to orders of magnitude more carbon than would typically be available to a heterotroph (Hallock, 1981; 2001), so the success of zooxanthellate corals in nutrient-limited environments can be attributed to the energetic advantage bestowed upon the corals by their symbionts (Stanley and Swart, 1995; Stanley, 2003). In addition to utilizing energy provided by their symbionts, zooxanthellate corals experience differences in growth, metabolism, and ability to acclimate to environmental changes as a result of this mutualism (Reed, 1982; Gates and Edmunds, 1999; Muller-Parker and D'Elia, 1997).

In the Mediterranean, the most extensively studied *Cladocora* species, *C. caespitosa* is found in a variety of habitats and is host to a *Symbiodinium* from clade A that is prevalent throughout the Mediterranean Sea and also tolerates a large range of irradiance levels (Rodolfo-Metalpa et al., 2008b). *C. caespitosa* is the main endemic zooxanthellate coral in the Mediterranean and is

frequently found in turbid waters from 5-40 m (Rodolfo-Metalpa et al., 2006 and 2008a). In a series of studies, Rodolfo-Metalpa et al. (2006, 2008a, 2008b, 2010) exposed C. caespitosa to different levels of temperature, irradiance, and pCO_2 , finding that both the coral and its zooxanthellae displayed extensive tolerance for short-term changes in environmental parameters. Buddemeier and Fautin (1993) noted that the degree of specificity a host has for a certain symbiont type may be the determining factor of that host's capability to acclimate to long-term environmental changes. One way around this is that some corals have a more loose association with their symbionts, with many temperate species being facultatively zooxanthellate and dissociating from the mutualistic relationship altogether as light levels become too low to support photosynthesis (Miller, 1995). In fact, Reed (1982) found that zooxanthellate Oculina *varicosa* living at 6 m depth actually have a lower growth rate than the azooxanthellate colonies living at 80 m depth, indicating that symbionts, despite their benefits, impose a metabolic cost to their hosts (Muller-Parker and D'Elia, 1997; Stoecker, 1998). In another species of Oculina, O. *arbuscula*, growth rates are maximal when the coral can benefit from a combination of heterotrophy and supplemental nutrition via zooxanthellae (Piniak, 2002). Another strategy that some corals may employ is to alter the constituents of their symbiont population, trading out some members of one type for those of another, to optimize the combined physiological performance of the coral holobiont depending upon environmental conditions (Gates and Edmunds, 1999). The ability of a coral to use any of these strategies and the degree to which the coral can control its trophic condition is likely unique to each coral-symbiont partnership.

There is generally little knowledge about the intricacies of the physiological interactions between a symbiont and its scleractinian host (Gates and Edmunds, 1999) and there are no studies to this author's knowledge addressing these aspects in regard to the metabolism of the

species examined in the present study, *C. arbuscula*. The genus *Cladocora* is comprised of species whose associations with *Symbiodinium* span the range from obligately zooxanthellate to azooxanthellate. *C. arbuscula* was the first species of *Cladocora* described and its existence has been recognized in the Caribbean for over 150 years (Lesuer, 1821; Baron-Szabo, 2005). *C. arbuscula* is unique compared to other species of *Cladocora* in that it is restricted to carbonate and soft bottoms and has a narrow geographic range, existing only off the coast of Florida, the Caribbean, and the Bahamas (Lesuer, 1821; Baron-Szabo, 2005). *C. arbuscula* is one of the most abundant species of endemic scleractinian corals off the west central coast of Florida, and a dominant, relatively fast-growing component of the patch reefs in the region (Rice and Hunter, 1992). *C. arbuscula* is a zooxanthellate coral found at a depth range of 0.5-27 m while a similar species, *C. debilis*, with which *C. arbuscula* is often confused, is azooxanthellate, occupies a deeper range of 24-480 m, and has a much larger geographic range (Cairns, 2000; Alvarez-Perez 2005).

The objective of this study was to distinguish the effects of zooxanthellae on the metabolic processes of *C. arbuscula* by bleaching individual colonies, then comparing rates of oxygen consumption, ammonium excretion, and the activities of the metabolic enzymes, lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), malate dehydrogenase (MDH), and citrate synthase (CS) of the normal and bleached colonies. If growth is maximal when a coral has both symbionts and another food source, it stands to reason that bleaching a coral would effectively reduce its growth rate by way of a reduced metabolic rate. Thus, I am testing the hypothesis that a possibly facultatively zooxanthellate coral provided with ample food can compensate for the lack of symbiont input.

Materials and Methods

Collection. Colonies of *Cladocora arbuscula* were collected off the coast of Tarpon Springs, Florida in September 2009 at depths between 3 and 4 m. Tennis ball-sized coral heads were hand-collected by divers using a hammer and chisel. Specimens were immediately placed into a cooler on board a boat provided by volunteers from the Tarpon Springs chapter of SCUBAnauts International. The corals were transported to the laboratory and immediately placed in a tank of recirculating seawater at 21°C. The C. arbuscula colonies were broken down into smaller chunks of 10-55 polyps each with a hammer and chisel. The chunks were briefly removed from the water (less than 30 sec each) and attached with polyps facing upward onto 1 in^2 tiles with parafilm-covered marine epoxy (to avoid permanent attachment). After the epoxy cured under water, the chunks were meticulously cleaned of any epibionts and placed into smaller tanks containing artificial seawater (Instant Ocean[®], salinity: 35ppt). Half of the chunks from each colony were placed into a tank that was kept in complete darkness, while the others remained on a 12:12 h light:dark cycle. Both treatments were fed Artemia franciscana (Great Salt Lake, Utah, USA) nauplii, freshly-hatched in the lab once per week. It took approximately two months for the dark-adapted chunks to expel their symbionts. They were considered to be fully bleached when the polyps were a pale pink color when retracted and completely transparent when expanded (Figure 2.1; see page 27). Corals in both treatment groups were kept in their tanks for another two months before being used in the experiments.

Oxygen consumption experiments. The apparatus for measuring oxygen consumption consisted of an array of lucite chambers designed specifically for this type of experiment, as used by Torres et al. (1994). The chambers' construction allowed for water at 21°C, temperature-controlled by an electric bath, to continuously flow between the double-layered walls,

maintaining the seawater and experimental animals in the inner chamber at a constant temperature. Upon sealing a chamber, no air can enter or leave. Oxygen microelectrodes (Clark, 1956; Mickel et al., 1983) fabricated in-house were calibrated using air- and nitrogen-saturated water. Then they were inserted into the top of each chamber and oxygen levels of the water inside were measured every half-second while a stir bar under a perforated lucite false bottom constantly mixed the water.

The pieces of "bleached" *C. arbuscula* and "normal" *C. arbuscula*, were placed into chambers appropriate for their size with artificial seawater treated with 25 mg/L each of Streptomycin and Neomycin to minimize bacterial oxygen consumption (Torres et al., 1994). A control chamber with just the artificial seawater was included in each experimental run to confirm negligible bacterial respiration. Once the chambers were sealed, PO₂ of the water was measured for 24 hours in the dark. These measurements were made for 15 pieces of normal and 15 pieces of bleached *C. arbuscula*. At the end of all experimental runs, the polyps were alive and had their tentacles extended. The *C. arbuscula* samples were immediately prepared for enzyme analysis upon removal from the respiration chambers.

Before and after each run, a 20 ml sample of water was taken from each chamber to be analyzed for ammonia production (Oceanic Nutrient Laboratory, University of South Florida).

Enzyme analyses. The polyp tissues from each coral chunk were removed with a scalpel and forceps, weighed, and homogenized in a ground glass grinder with a 50 mM Imidazole/HCl buffer (pH 7.2 at 20 °C) solution that diluted the homogenate by 1:8. Each homogenate was spun down in a centrifuge for 10 minutes at 4750 x g and the supernatant was used in triplicate UV/visible spectrophotometric enzyme analyses at 10°C using the techniques of Torres and Somero (1988). Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) activity was assayed at a wavelength of 340 nm

in a 0.2 M Imidazole/HCl buffer solution (pH 8.0 at 10 °C) with 0.15 mM NADH and 5.0 mM Na-pyruvate. Malate dehydrogenase (MDH) was measured at 340 nm in a 40 mM Imidazol/MgCl₂ buffer solution (pH 8.1 @ 10°C) with 0.15 mM NADH and 0.5 mM oxaloacetate. Citrate synthase (CS) activity was measured at 412 nm in a 50 mM Imidazol/HCl buffer solution (pH 8.0 @ 10°C) with 0.4 mM DTNB, 0.1 mM Acetyl-CoA, and 0.5 mM oxaloacetate. Any remaining coral tissue was removed from the skeleton using a Waterpik[®] filled with artificial seawater and the cleaned skeleton was then weighed to calculate total tissue wet mass for each sample via subtraction.

Results

Normal *Cladocora arbuscula* exhibited an average respiration rate of $2.43\pm0.65 \ \mu\text{mol O}_2$ $g_{wm}^{-1} h^{-1} (\pm S.E.)$, using tissue wet mass, while the bleached colonies had an average rate of $2.46\pm0.49 \ \mu\text{mol O}_2 \ g_{wm}^{-1} h^{-1}$, an insignificant difference (ANOVA, F=0.001, df=1, p=0.97) (Table 2.1; see page 27). The oxygen consumption rates did not scale with wet mass for either treatment group (p>0.40 for both), which is atypical for most animal groups (Hemminsen, 1960). The reason for this is likely that the coral pieces were similar in size, so the rates measured were within the normal range for pieces of that particular size. The rates fall on the low end of the range for tropical/subtropical cnidarians (Davies, 1980; Schick, 1990) (Figure 2.2; see page 28).

Differences in ammonium excretion were also not significant (ANOVA, F=1.26, df=1, p=0.27), averaging 0.07±0.02 and 0.11±0.03 µmol NH₄⁺ g_{wm}⁻¹ h⁻¹ (±S.E.) for normal and bleached *C. arbuscula*, respectively. Like the respiratory rates, those excretion rates did not scale with mass for either group (p>0.20 for both). The values result in an O:N atomic ratio of 63 and 46 (p=0.32) for the normal and bleached corals, respectively, indicating that both groups were catabolizing lipids, possibly indicating starvation. Even though the corals were fed weekly,

not all the *Artemia* were cleared over the course of the week, therefore, the corals had a constant food supply available. It is possible that the sudden lack of *Artemia* triggered a starvation response.

Activities of CS fell within the normal range expected for a cnidarian and were similar for both treatments, averaging 0.07 ± 0.02 and 0.11 ± 0.03 activity units (U) g_{wm}^{-1} (±S.E.) (ANOVA, F=1.74, df=1, p=0.21), for normal and bleached *C. arbuscula*, respectively, where activity units are micromoles of substrate converted to product per minute. MDH averaged 2.50±0.40 and $1.2\pm0.31U g_{wm}^{-1}$, for normal and bleached corals, respectively, both of which are high values, considering the range reported for other cnidarians (Thuesen and Childress, 1994; Henry and Torres, 2013), with the normal corals having significantly higher values than the bleached corals (ANOVA, F=5.57, df=1, p=0.03). LDH activities were similarly very high for both groups, averaging 1.25 ± 0.17 and $1.28\pm0.21U g_{wm}^{-1}$, for normal and bleached corals, respectively (ANOVA, F=0.03, df=1, p=0.87).

Discussion

Although some studies have examined short-term growth rates of *Cladocora arbuscula* or *C. caespitosa* under experimental conditions (Rice and Hunter, 1992 and Rodolfo-Metalpa et al., 2008a, respectively), there are no records of *in situ* linear extension rates; anecdotal growth rates have been quoted to be about 5 cm y⁻¹, which may be unrealistically high. The Mediterranean *C. caespitosa* has been observed to grow at rates between 1.36-6.15 mm per year (Peirano et al., 1999; Kruzic and Pozar-Domac, 2002; Peirano et al., 2005; Kruzic and Benkovic, 2008), which may be similar to the rate at which *C. arbuscula* grows in the northern Gulf of Mexico. This is a slow growth rate compared to tropical corals, whose growth rates are typically measured on a scale of centimeters. Goreau (1959) observed calcification rates of *C. arbuscula* and found that

these rates did not change much whether the corals were held in the light or dark, suggesting that the species is not highly dependent upon its symbionts for skeletal formation.

At the conclusion of the present study, some of the bleached coral pieces that were not used in the experiments remained in the dark tank for long-term observation (the rest were returned to the lab's main coral tank to be re-inoculated with symbionts). I observed that *C. arbuscula* can survive, calcify, and asexually reproduce to increase the colony size after being held for over 18 months in complete darkness, subsisting only on a weekly feeding of *Artemia franciscana* nauplii, which is further evidence that the symbiosis is facultative in this species.

Two zooxanthellate coral species with similar oxygen consumption rates as *C. arbuscula* (Figure 2.2; see page 28), *Montastrea cavernosa* and *M. annularis*, have growth rates of 6 and $<10 \text{ mm y}^{-1}$, respectively (Suggett et al., 2012; Foster et al., 2013). The relatively low respiration rate (2.43 µmol O₂ g_{wm}⁻¹ h⁻¹) observed for *C. arbuscula* is consistent with the hypothesis that it may grow at a slow rate, similar to that of *C. caespitosa*. The fact that this rate does not significantly differ between the normal colonies and the bleached colonies further supports the idea that *C. arbuscula* may not be dependent on its symbionts for normal metabolic function.

Upon returning some of the coral pieces to a 12h:12h light/dark cycle in a large tank containing species of *Montastrea* and *Siderastrea*, signs of re-inoculation with symbionts were apparent after less than two weeks. The corals had reverted to their normal yellow-brown color after six weeks. It would have been interesting to determine if the same species and density of *Symbiodinium* repopulated the corals as were previously present.

The metabolic enzyme analyses demonstrate that *C. arbuscula* is both aerobically and anaerobically competent. The activities of the two Krebs cycle enzymes, citrate synthase (CS) and malate dehydrogenase (MDH) are indicators of aerobic function. MDH also has other

functions related to metabolism; it shuttles glycolytic reducing equivalents into the mitochondrion, as well as back into the cytosol for gluconeogenesis. The expected rate of CS activity combined with the elevated levels of MDH activity, especially in the normal treatment group, indicate that *C. arbuscula* is aerobically active and can also maintain redox balance during hypoxia. Bleaching this coral effectively diminishes its MDH activity, but to a level that is still impressive compared to that of other cnidarians (Thuesen and Childress, 1994; Henry and Torres, 2013). Dupont et al. (2010) found that compared to other co-occurring coral species, *C. arbuscula* is highly resistant to bleaching during a red tide event, and when it does bleach, will recover quickly, possibly due in part to its continued aerobic competency.

Cladocora arbuscula is host to type B1 *Symbiodinium*, *S. pulchrorum/bermudense* (LaJeunesse, 2002), which have a high acclimatization capacity throughout a large range of irradiance levels (Iglesias-Prieto and Trench, 1997). The tissue of *C. arbuscula* in the field contains a high density of zooxanthellae, possibly supporting as many as 17 layers of symbionts (Beck, 1982). The increased access to oxygen as a result of a high symbiont count seems to further increase the aerobic metabolic function of the coral.

The activity of the terminal enzyme in anaerobic glycolysis, lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), is an indicator of anaerobic capacity. The high LDH activity in both treatment groups demonstrates an increased anaerobic competence. The west coast of Florida is prone to outbreaks of *Karenia brevis*, the dinoflagellate responsible for red tides and the subsequent anoxic events. Rice and Hunter (1992) demonstrated that *C. arbuscula* displays resistance to burial by sediment, compared to other corals with which it co-occurs. The high anaerobic capacity of *C. arbuscula* is likely what allows it to survive red tide-induced anoxic events as well as sedimentation events. There are also regions of western Florida that are subject to riverine

outflow; the corals in the present study were collected not far from the mouth of the Alafia River. These regions experience intermittent levels of high sediment flow. The abundance of *C*. *arbuscula* off the Florida west coast can be partially attributed to its ability to thrive despite events that temporarily diminish water quality.

In summary, *C. arbuscula* is one of the most abundant species of scleractinian corals off the west central coast of Florida, and is a dominant component of the patch reefs in the region (Rice and Hunter, 1992). It thrives in a region subject to red-tides, intermittent high sedimentation, and the occasional hurricane. Despite local anecdotes, it appears to have a low growth rate that is similar to the Mediterranean *C. caespitosa*, since its metabolic rate is on the lower end of the spectrum for sub/tropical cnidarians. At the same time, its high levels of both aerobic and anaerobic function allow it to thrive in this environment, even when faced with conditions that cause widespread stress and mortality of benthic organisms. Although *C. arbuscula* can function quite well without zooxanthellae, it seems that its optimal state is to have endosymbionts included as members of the holobiont, as evidenced by the rapid re-browning observed both in the field and laboratory.

Acknowledgments

We would like to extend our gratitude to the Tarpon Springs chapter of SCUBAnauts International and to Mike Waugh for organizing the collection trip. This study was supported by NSF OCE 0727883 to Joseph J. Torres.

References

 Ålvarez-Pérez G, Busquets P, De Mol B, Sandoval NG, Canals M, Casamor JL (2005) Deepwater coral occurrences in the Strait of Gibraltar. In: Freiwald, A. and Roberts, M. (eds.), Cold-Water Corals and Ecosystems. Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg pp 207-221.

- Baron-Szabo RC (2005) Geographic and stratigraphic distributions of the Caribbean species of *Cladocora* (Scleractinia, Faviidae). *Facies* 51(1): 185-196.
- Beck GA (1982) Seasonal changes in the zooxanthellal symbiosis of the tube coral *Cladocora arbuscula* Lesueur. Masters thesis. Florida Institute of Technology, Melbourne, Florida. 137 pp.
- Buddemeier RW and Fautin DG (1993) Coral bleaching as an adaptive mechanism. *BioScience* 43: 320-326.
- Cairns SD (2000) A revision of the shallow-water azooxanthellate *Scleractinia* of the Western Atlantic. *Stud Nat Hist Carib Reg* 75: 1-240.
- Clark LC (1956) Monitor and control of blood and tissue oxygen tensions. *Trans Am Soc Artif Internal Organs* 2: 41-48.
- Cook CB, D'Elia CF, Muller-Parker G (1988) Host feeding and nutrient sufficiency for zooxanthellae in the sea anemone *Aiptasia pallida*. *Mar Biol* 98: 253-262.
- Dupont JM, Hallock P, Jaap WC (2010) Ecological impacts of the 2005 red tide on artificial reef epibenthic macroinvertebrate and fish communities in the eastern Gulf of Mexico. *Mar Ecol Prog Ser* 415:189-200.
- Foster NL, Baums IB, Sanchez JA, Paris CB, Chollett I, Agudelo CL, Vermeij MJA, Mumby PJ (2013) Hurricane-driven patterns of clonality in an ecosystem engineer: the Caribbean coral *Montastraea annularis*. *PLoS ONE* 8(1): e53283. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0053283
- Gates RD and Edmunds PJ (1999) The physiological mechanisms of acclimatization in tropical reef corals. *Amer Zool* 39:30-43.

Gaydos DJ (2006) Modeling the advantages and disadvantages of the coral-algal symbiosis. Master's thesis. University of South Florida, Tampa, Florida, 207 pp. http://scholarcommons.usf.edu/etd/3905/

Goreau TF (1959) The physiology of skeleton formation in corals. I. A method for measuring the rate of calcium deposition by corals under different conditions. *Biol Bull* 116(1): 59-75.

Hallock P (1981) Algal symbiosis: a mathematical analysis. Mar Biol 62: 249-255.

- Hallock P (2001) Coral reefs, carbonate sediments, nutrients and global change. In: Stanley Jr.GD (ed.), The History and Sedimentology of Ancient Reef Systems. Kluwer AcademicPublishing/Plenum, New York, pp. 387-427.
- Hemminsen AM (1960) Energy metabolism as related to body size and respiratory surfaces, and its evolution. *Rep Steno Mem Hosp* 9:15–22.
- Henry LV and Torres JJ (2013) Metabolism of an Antarctic solitary coral, *Flabellum impensum*. *J Exp Mar Biol Ecol* 449:17-21.
- Iglesias-Prieto R and Trench RK (1997) Photoadaptation, photoacclimation and niche diversification in invertebrate-dinoflagellate symbioses. *Proc 8th Int Coral Reef Symp* 2: 1319-1324.
- Johannes R, Coles S, Kuenzel N (1970) The role of zooplankton in the nutrition of some scleractinian corals. *Limnol Oceanogr* 15:579–586.
- Kružić P and Požar-Domac A (2002) Skeleton growth rates of coral bank of *Cladocora caespitosa* (Anthozoa, Scleractinia) in lake Veliko jezero (Mljet National Park). *Periodicum biologorum* 104(2): 123-129.
- Kružić P and Benković L (2008) Bioconstructional features of the coral *Cladocora caespitosa* (Anthozoa, Scleractinia) in the Adriatic Sea (Croatia). *Mar Ecol* 29(1): 125-139.

- LaJeunesse TC (2002) Diversity and community structure of symbiotic dinoflagellates from Caribbean coral reefs. *Mar Biol* 141(2): 387-400.
- Lesueur CA (1821) Description de plusiers animaux appurtenant aux polypiers lamelliferes de M. le Chev. De Lamarck. Mém Mus Nat Hist 6:271-298, pls 15–17
- Mickel TJ, Quentin LB, Childress JJ (1983) Construction of a polarographic oxygen sensor in the laboratory. in: Polarographic Oxygen Sensors. Gnaiger, E., Forstner, H. (Eds.), Springer-Verlag, Berlin, pp. 81-89.
- Miller MW (1995) Growth of a temperate coral: effects of temperature, light, depth, and heterotrophy. *Mar Ecol Prog Ser* 122:217-225.
- Muller-Parker G and D'Elia CF (1997) Interactions between corals and their symbiotic algae.In: Birkeland C (ed.), Life and Death of Coral Reefs. Chapman and Hall, New York, pp. 96-113.
- Muscatine L and Porter JW (1977) Reef corals: mutualistic symbioses adapted to nutrient-poor environments. *BioScience* 27(7): 454-460.
- Muscatine L (1990) The role of symbiotic algae in carbon and energy flux in reef corals. In:
 Dubinsky Z (ed) Ecosystems of the World, vol 25. Coral reefs. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 75– 87.
- Peirano A, Morri C, Bianchi CN (1999) Skeleton growth and density pattern of the temperate,
 zooxanthellate scleractinian *Cladocora caespitosa* from the Ligurian Sea (NW
 Mediterranean). *Mar Ecol Prog Ser* 185: 195-201.
- Peirano A, Abbate M, Cerrati G, Difesca V, Peroni C, Rodolfo-Metalpa R (2005) Monthly variations in calyx growth, polyp tissue, and density banding of the Mediterranean scleractinian *Cladocora caespitosa* (L.). *Coral Reefs* 24: 404-409.

- Piniak G (2002) Effects of symbiotic status, flow speed, and prey type on prey capture by the facultatively symbiotic temperate coral *Oculina arbuscula*. *Mar Biol* 141: 449-455.
- Reed JK (1982) *In situ* growth rates of the scleractinian coral *Oculina varicosa* occurring with zooxanthellae on 6 m reefs and without on 80 m banks. *Proc 4th Int Coral Reef Symp* 2: 201-206.
- Rice SA and Hunter CL (1992). Effects of suspended sediment and burial on scleractinian corals from west central Florida patch reefs. *Bull Mar Sci* 51(3): 429-442.
- Rodolfo-Metalpa R, Richard C, Allemand D, Bianchi CN, Morri C, Ferrier-Pagès C (2006)
 Response of zooxanthellae in symbiosis with the Mediterranean corals *Cladocora caespitosa* and *Oculina patagonica* to elevated temperatures. *Mar Biol* 150: 45-55.
- Rodolfo-Metalpa R, Peirano A, Houlbrèque F, Abbate M, Ferrier-Pagès C (2008a) Effects of temperature, light and heterotrophy on the growth rate and budding of the temperate coral *Cladocora caespitosa. Coral Reefs* 27: 17-25.
- Rodolfo-Metalpa R, Huot Y, Ferrier-Pagès C (2008b). Photosynthetic response of the Mediterranean zooxanthellate coral *Cladocora caespitosa* to the natural range of light and temperature. *J Exp Biol* 211: 1579-1586.
- Rodolfo-Metalpa R, Martin S, Ferrier-Pagès C, Gattuso J-P (2010). Response of the temperate coral *Cladocora caespitosa* to mid-and long-term exposure to pCO2 and temperature levels projected for the year 2100 AD. *Biogeosciences* 7: 289-300.
- Stanley Jr. GD (2003) The evolution of modern corals and their early history. *Earth-Sci Rev* 60: 195-225.
- Stoecker DK (1998) Conceptual models of mixotrophy in planktonic protists and some ecological and evolutionary implications. *Eur J Protistol* 34(3): 281–290.

- Suggett DJ, Kikuchi RKP, Oliveira MDM, Spano S, Carvalho R, Smith DJ (2012) Photobiology of corals from Brazil's near-shore marginal reefs of Abrolhos. *Mar Biol* 159:1461-1473.
- Thuesen EV and Childress JJ (1994) Oxygen consumption rates and metabolic enzyme activities of oceanic California medusae in relation to body size and habitat depth. *Biol Bull* 187: 84-98.
- Torres JJ, Somero GN (1988) Metabolism, enzyme activities and cold adaptation in Antarctic mesopelagic fishes. *Mar Biol* 98:169-180.
- Torres JJ, Aarset AV, Donnelly J, Hopkins TL, Lancraft TM, Ainley DG (1994) Metabolism of Antarctic micronektonic Crustacea as a function of depth of occurrence and season. *Mar Ecol Pro Ser* 113:207-219.
Tables and Figures



Figure 2.1. Bleaching over time. (A) A piece of *C. arbuscula* before being put into the dark. (B) The same piece (rotated) still showing some coloration after about a month in total darkness. The white specks are some leftover *Artemia* cysts. (C) A different piece, fully bleached and shown inflated after feeding to demonstrate complete loss of zooxanthellae.

	Respiration	Excretion	CS	MDH	LDH
	$\mu mol \ O_2 \ g^{1} \ h^{1}$	μ mol NH ₄ ⁺ g ⁻¹ h ⁻¹	$U g_{wm}^{-1}$	$U g_{wm}^{-1}$	$U g_{wm}^{-1}$
Normal	2.43±0.65	0.07±0.02	0.10±0.02	2.5±0.4	1.3±0.2
Bleached	2.46±0.49	0.1±0.03	0.07±0.01	1.2±0.3	1.3±0.2
F	0.001	1.26	1.74	5.57	0.03
p-value	0.97	0.3	0.2	0.03	0.9
df	1	1	1	1	1

Table 2.1. Oxygen respiration, nitrogen excretion, and enzyme activities for normal and bleached *C. arbuscula*.



Figure 2.2. Metabolic rates of various cnidarians. *C. arbuscula* lies on the low end of the metabolic spectrum compared to some other cnidarians. Species listed in this graph include tropical corals (Davies, 1980), a zoanthid and an anemone (Shick, 1990).

Chapter Three:

The Effects of Temperature on Coral Metabolism

Abstract

Lophelia pertusa is a hermatypic cold-water coral that flourishes around the globe in water depths between 36 and 3383 m. The present study characterizes the metabolism of L. pertusa from Miami Terrace and the Gulf of Mexico with measurements of oxygen consumption and metabolic enzyme activity at four different temperatures, 5°C, 8 °C (control), 11°C, and 13°C. L. pertusa exhibited a respiration rate of 1.08 µmol O₂ g_{wm}⁻¹h⁻¹ at 8°C. The 5°C group showed a 32% decrease in respiration compared with the controls. The 11°C treatment group exhibited an 11% increase in respiration compared to the controls, while the 13°C corals showed a 23% increase. O:N atomic ratios averaged 31 for the Miami Terrace corals, indicating a predominantly lipid-based diet, and less than 8 for the Gulf corals, indicating a pure protein diet. The activity values of the metabolic enzyme citrate synthase (CS) fell into the normal range expected for a cnidarian, averaging 0.18, 0.15, 0.20, and 0.10 activity units (U) gwm⁻¹ for the 5°C, 8°C, 11°C, and 13°C and treatments, respectively. Malate dehydrogenase (MDH) values were unexpectedly high, averaging 1.82, 2.05, 1.48, and 1.48 U gwm⁻¹ for the 5°C, 8°C, 11°C, and 13°C treatments, respectively. Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) was undetectable in this species. L. pertusa thickets serve as habitat to thousands of animal species, and with more research

focusing on deep-sea coral habitats as important deep-sea refugia, it is especially important to understand the basic biology of the reef-forming species.

Introduction

Despite the evolutionary success conferred upon shallow-water corals by their symbiosis with photoautotrophic dinoflagellates, about 3300 (65%) documented species of corals are azooxanthellate and live in deep, cold waters, well below the photic zone, from 50-6000 m (Roberts and Hirshfield, 2004; Roberts et al., 2009; Etnoyer, 2010). The existence of those deepliving corals has been recognized for over two hundred years (Jensen and Frederiksen, 1992; Roberts and Hirshfield, 2004), however, it wasn't until the development of submersible vehicles, that they became accessible to scientific research. There have been few studies of deep-sea corals in their natural state, so details about their biology and ecology are still in the process of being discovered. Although there is limited knowledge about the global distribution of deep-sea corals, most seem to occur on seamounts or the edges of continental margins, which are among the most diverse deep-sea habitats (Jensen and Frederiksen, 1992; Mortensen et al., 1995; Roberts and Hirshfield, 2004; Neulinger et al., 2008). One of the two dominant species of deepliving corals that occur off the southeast coast of the United States is Lophelia pertusa, which is pseudo-colonial and stenothermal, as well as one of the most widespread deep-sea corals (Rogers, 1999; Neulinger et al., 2008). L. pertusa occurs as either completely white or with colored polyps ranging from yellow to orange to pink. The other dominant coral is the facultatively zooxanthellate Oculina varicosa, which occurs in both shallow and deep water (Reed, 1982; 2002).

Twenty of the 703 known species of deep-sea stony corals form reefs (Roberts and Hirshfield, 2004). *L. pertusa* reefs exist worldwide, except at the poles (Zibrowius 1980; Cairns

1994) and some living reefs are estimated to be thousands of years old

(estimated from the coral's slow growth rate compared to some shallow-water corals) (Freiwald *et al.*, 2002). Linear extension rates for *L. pertusa* are estimated to be as low as 5 mm per year (Roberts, 2002) to at least 34 mm per year (Roberts et al., 2009) as observed from samples taken from man-made structures of known age, although Brooke and Young (2009) measured a much lower rate of 2.44-3.77 mm per year for transplanted pieces. *L. pertusa* has been recorded at depths between 36 and 3383 m and at latitudes between 71°N and 51°S (Roberts et al., 2009).

Atlantic *L. pertusa* reefs provide habitat to thousands of species of sponges, anemones, bryozoans, gorgonians, worms, fish, mollusks, and crustaceans (Reed et al., 1982; Reed and Mikkelsen, 1987; Roberts and Hirshfield, 2004; Etnoyer, 2010) and have three times the diversity of the surrounding soft bottom (Fosså et al., 2002). They represent oases of high diversity in a low-diversity environment (Fosså et al., 2002), both in terms of overall diversity and diversity within many taxonomic groups (Jensen and Frederiksen, 1992; Mortensen et al., 1995; Rogers, 1999). The high diversity within Lophelia reefs is believed to be possible because they occur in a stable environment with a predictable food supply (Rogers, 1999). Deep-sea corals represent an important ecological niche in that they protect inhabitants from currents and predators, act as a nursery habitat, and provide feeding, breeding, and spawning ground for economically valuable fish and shellfish (Jensen and Frederiksen, 1992; Roberts and Hirshfield, 2004). Although thousands of deep-sea corals have been described, researchers estimate that 800 stony species and their associated fauna have yet to be encountered (Roberts and Hirshfield, 2004).

Because *L. pertusa* is azooxanthellate, it must depend upon the capture of plankton and detritus for nutrition. *L. pertusa* have been observed in the field to feed "voraciously" on

zooplankton (Rogers, 1999), yet have survived seemingly unharmed in a laboratory for three months without supplemental nutrition (Dr. Sandra Brooke, pers. comm.). This, along with the fact that deep-sea corals experience lower temperatures, suggests that they might have a lower metabolic rate than shallow-water corals. L. pertusa is rather stenothermal, commonly found between 6-8°C, although they are reported to occur within the range of 4-12°C (Freiwald, 2002). A recent thermal tolerance study by Brooke et al. (2012) suggests that 15° C represents the LT₂₅ for this species. Corals for this study were collected off the coast of Miami and in the northern Gulf of Mexico at sites that were $\sim 8^{\circ}$ C. Some *L. pertusa* reefs found on the oil/gas lease blocks in the Gulf are subject to temperature fluctuations due to internal waves as well as warm water intrusions from the Mississippi River (Davies et al., 2010) and Atlantic corals are subject to warm water meanders from the Gulf Stream (Bane et al., 2001). This indicates that L. pertusa are tolerant of sporadic warm water pulses that are several degrees higher than what they are accustomed to, which indicates that the species can accommodate short term stress. With Gulf temperatures expected to rise over 1°C within the century (Mendoza-Alfaro and P. Alvarez-Torres, 2012), one can hypothesize that *L. pertusa* will have enough metabolic flexibility to be able to adapt to limited temperature increases associated with climate change. This study aims to characterize the metabolic tolerance of *L. pertusa* to a range of temperatures that would normally be experienced in the field today, as well as what might become the norm within coming decades.

Materials and Methods

Collection. The initial collection and study took place in May/June 2007 off Miami Terrace aboard the R/V *Seward Johnson*. Corals were collected from 683 m depth via the manned submersible, *Johnson-Sea-Link II*. The second collection and set of experiments took

place in October 2010 in the Northern Gulf of Mexico aboard the NOAA ship *Ronald H. Brown*. Corals were collected off the Bureau of Ocean Energy Management lease blocks VK826 (489 m) and GC354 (528 m) with the ROV system *Jason/Medea*. Immediately following collection, *Lophelia pertusa* branches were broken down with a hammer and chisel to make pieces consisting of 1-11 polyps. For all experiments, these coral pieces were allowed a minimum of 12 hours of recovery and observation from collection/breakdown in a cold room close to the temperature at which they were found (5-8°C) before being used in any experiments. The criteria for suitability of the coral pieces for use in an experiment were that all polyps on the piece had to be extended, all polyps reacted to tactile stimulation, and the piece had been broken off the main branch in such a manner that there was no damage to any of the polyps (no tissue exposed on the bottom or sides of any pieces).

Oxygen consumption experiments. The oxygen consumption test apparatus was made up of an array of water-jacketed lucite chambers as described in Torres et al. (1994). Water that was temperature-controlled by a circulating water bath continuously flowed between the doublelayered walls of each chamber, keeping the seawater and experimental animals in the inner chamber at a constant temperature. Once the chambers were sealed, the inner chamber was airtight. Oxygen microelectrodes (Clark, 1956; Mickel et al., 1983) manufactured in the lab were inserted into each chamber to measure oxygen levels of the water inside, while a magnetic stir bar situated beneath a perforated lucite false bottom kept the water well-mixed.

Individual *L. pertusa* pieces were placed into chambers appropriate for their size with 0.45 μ m Millipore-filtered seawater instead of artificial seawater because *in situ* seawater was readily available. To determine the volume of seawater in the chamber accounting for the animal, at the end of each experiment, the coral pieces were placed in a graduated cylinder of

seawater and the volume of water displaced by each piece was subtracted from the previously measured water capacity of each chamber (25 replicates). The seawater was treated with 25 mg L^{-1} each of Streptomycin and Neomycin to minimize bacterial respiration and a control chamber was run for each experiment to ensure that any microbial consumption had a negligible effect on oxygen measurements (Torres et al., 1994). Upon sealing the chambers, the PO₂ of the water was measured every 30 seconds for 22 hours. To minimize effects of transferring the pieces to their chambers, no data prior to the 100 minute mark were used. This was the point by which all respiration rates had stabilized.

The Miami Terrace corals were run only at their habitat temperature of 8°C (18 replicates). There were 4 temperature treatment groups for the Gulf experiments, representing various points along this species' reported natural range. All specimens were collected at 8°C so the respiration rates measured in this treatment group (14 replicates) represent L. pertusa's normal rate. An 11°C treatment (8 replicates) and a 13°C treatment (8 replicates) were selected to determine the effects of bringing the corals up to the high end of their temperature tolerance. The 5°C treatment (8 replicates) represents the low end of the range and was also chosen because the temperature of the cold room on board the Ronald H. Brown ranged between 5°C and 7°C and tended to be closer to 5°C during hours when traffic in and out of the room were low. Except for the 5°C group, corals were taken from the cold room prior to the experiments and placed in a large unsealed chamber of seawater in the array that was increased from 5°C to whichever treatment temperature they were going to experience by increasing the temperature of the water bath 0.5° C every hour. The purpose of this was to avoid a heat shock response. At the end of each experimental run, coral pieces were inspected to see if they had their tentacles extended and reacted to tactile stimulation, were retracted but still responded to tactile

stimulation (by further retracting into the calyx), or were unresponsive (dead). Then they were promptly placed into a -80°C freezer for later analysis of metabolic enzymes.

Before and after each run, a 20 ml sample of water was taken from each chamber to be used for analysis of ammonium excretion via an auto-analyzer (Oceanic Nutrient Laboratory, University of South Florida).

Enzyme analyses. The frozen samples were stabilized at 4°C (the lower limit of the laboratory cold room) and weighed. Per the methods described in Chapter 2, after obtaining the wet mass of each whole piece, bits of tissue were removed from the skeletons with forceps, weighed, then homogenized in a glass grinder with an imidazole buffer solution that diluted the samples 1:8. The homogenate was spun down in a centrifuge for 10 minutes at 4750 x g and the supernatant was used in spectrophotometric analysis of lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), malate dehydrogenase (MDH), and citrate synthase (CS) activity levels at 8°C using the techniques of Torres and Somero (1988). Any remaining coral tissue was removed from the skeleton using a Waterpik® filled with artificial seawater at 4°C and the cleaned skeleton was then weighed again to determine total tissue wet mass for each sample.

Results

Oxygen consumption. At 8°C, there was no difference in oxygen consumption between the corals from Miami Terrace or the Northern Gulf of Mexico (p=0.01). At the control temperature, *Lophelia pertusa* exhibited a respiration rate of $1.16\pm0.18 \ \mu\text{mol} \ O_2 \ g_{wm}^{-1} h^{-1}$ and $1.11\pm0.16 \ \mu\text{mol} \ O_2 \ g_{wm}^{-1} h^{-1}$ (mean±S.E.), respectively. The 5°C treatment specimens exhibited respiration rates averaging 32% lower than that of the control group (Table 3.1; see page 47), which is an unexpectedly large drop for a temperature decrease of only 3°C. Corals in the 11°C treatment group exhibited an 11% increase in respiration from the control. At 13°C, the corals showed a 23% rise in oxygen consumption, compared to the control, one quarter of the corals died, and all polyps were retracted into their calyces. The relationship between increasing respiration rates and increasing temperature was significant (ANOVA, F=4.29, DF=3, p<0.01). Tissue wet mass was not a causative factor in the difference between treatment groups (ANOVA, F=0.31, df=3, p=0.8). Dodds et al. (2007) found that *L. pertusa* lies midway between being an oxyconformer and an oxyregulator and calculated a critical oxygen partial pressure (P_c) of 9-10 kPa at 9°C, 9 kPa at 11°C, and 5-6 kPa at 6.5°C. No corals in the 5°C and 8°C treatments experienced conditions approaching a P_c, however some chambers did get low on oxygen in the 11°C and 13°C treatments, so a P_c of 9 kPa was assigned to the 11°C treatment and a P_c of 10 kPa was estimated for the 13°C treatment and only data from above those points were used in calculating respiration rates in order to capture "normal" respiration. In the few instances that the oxygen dropped to zero, the coral from that chamber was removed from the experiment early. Upon reviewing the data for the few corals that did seem to exhibit a P_c effect over the course of the experiment, it was discovered that these data aligned quite well with those of Dodds et al. (2007); the 11°C group showed a probable P_c around 8.7 kPa, while the 13°C group appeared to decline around 9.9 kPa. Only a few chambers were depleted enough to see a Pc effect, so these values are not definitive.

As temperature increased, the correlation between respiration rate and tissue wet mass became stronger. There was no significant correlation at 5°C (p=0.1) and 8°C (p>0.05), however, at 11°C (p<0.001) and 13°C (p<0.001) there was a clear trend of increased oxygen consumption with increasing wet mass (Figure 3.1; see page 47).

Metabolic enzymes. Temperature had no significant effect on CS (ANOVA, F=1.44, df=3, p=0.3) or MDH activity (ANOVA, F=1.73, df=3, p=0.2). The activity values of the

metabolic enzyme citrate synthase (CS) fell into the normal range expected for a cnidarian, averaging 0.18 ± 0.02 , 0.15 ± 0.01 , 0.20 ± 0.02 , and 0.10 ± 0.01 activity units (U) g_{wm}^{-1} for the 5°C, 8°C, 11°C, and 13°C treatments, respectively, where activity units are micromoles of substrate converted to product per minute. Malate dehydrogenase (MDH) values were unexpectedly high, averaging 1.82 ± 0.22 , 2.05 ± 0.14 , 1.48 ± 0.11 , and 1.48 ± 0.12 U g_{wm}^{-1} for the 5°C, 8°C, 11°C, and 13°C treatments, respectively. MDH activity in other cnidarians (medusae) is generally less than 1 U g_{wm}^{-1} (Thuesen and Childress, 1994). Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) was undetectable in this species, suggesting it uses a different terminal glycolytic enzyme.

O:N ratios. Ammonium excretion was the only parameter that differed between the samples from Miami Terrace and the Gulf. The *in situ* O:N atomic ratio (oxygen respiration to ammonium excretion) for the Miami Terrace corals averaged 31, indicating that their diet consisted of more lipids than protein, while the Gulf corals averaged less than 8 for all treatments, indicating a diet of pure protein (Ikeda, 1974; Szmant et al., 1990; Torres et al. 1996). **Discussion**

A fairly high rate of oxygen uptake was measured for *Lophelia pertusa* (an average of $1.14 \ \mu mol \ O_2 \ g_{wm}^{-1}h^{-1}$ tissue wet mass for all corals at control temperature), as compared to other cold-water to temperate enidarians. However, when making a Q_{10} correction for temperature (assuming $Q_{10}=2$) and comparing this rate to tropical corals, *L. pertusa* is on the lower half of the metabolic spectrum (Figure 3.2; see page 48). A Q_{10} represents the rate change of a biological/chemical reaction as a result of raising the temperature 10°C. Most biochemical reactions have a Q_{10} that lies between 2 and 3. Brooke and Young (2009) measured *in-situ* growth rates of *L. pertusa* transplants and found that the species has a linear extension rate of a round 3 mm per year, which is a much slower rate than most tropical corals and strongly

reflects the lower metabolic rate. Naumann et al. (2013) studied the respiratory and calcification rates of *L.pertusa* and *Madrepora oculata* at 6°C, 9°C, and 12°C. Temperature did not affect the respiratory rate (reported in relation to surface area rather than tissue wet mass) of *L.pertusa*, but calcification decreased by 58% at the lowest temperature. The respiration rate of *M. oculata* decreased by 48% at the 6°C and 9°C degree treatments, while calcification decreased by 69% and 41%, respectively.

A wide range of growth rates have been reported, from 5 mm to over 3 cm per year, from observations in aquaria, stable isotope measurements, and discovery of colonies growing on man-made structures of known age (Roberts et al., 2009), although the growth rates are still well below that of many tropical corals. This may very well be a function of variability in substrate quality (zooplankton prey availability/unit time); when a substrate of opportunity arrives, *L. pertusa* have a higher growth rate that allows them to out-compete other would-be colonizers, while established colonies have settled into a slower growth rate due to competition for zooplankton resources. As colonies grow and age, the bioherm becomes host to many other animal species that then act as competion with the corals for food, reducing access to the nutrients necessary to support rapid growth.

Raising the temperature 3°C resulted in an 11% increase in oxygen consumption. The corals appeared unstressed by the increase, as all of the polyps were extended. However, this results in a Q_{10} of only 1.42. Raising the temperature by 5°C resulted in a 23% increase in oxygen consumption and the death of 25% of the corals. The surviving polyps had all retracted into their calyces, indicating stress. Still, this rise in metabolism only resulted in a Q_{10} of 1.51. These low Q_{10} values might be explained by the results of the "low temperature" treatment group at 5°C. For only a 3°C decrease in temperature, the 32% drop in oxygen consumption was

surprising. However, all of the control runs were performed first, so by the time the 11°C, 13°C, and 5°C experiments were begun, the corals had already been on board for several days in the 5°C-7°C cold room. Recalculating the Q_{10} values for the 11°C and 13°C treatments using the new "baseline" metabolism from the 5°C group results in a Q_{10} of 2.24 and 2.08, respectively. Therefore, even though the corals were slowly brought up to their experimental temperatures after being removed from the cold room, the observed oxygen consumption rates suggest that their metabolism was altered from a baseline closer to 5°C, rather than their *in-situ* rates. It is certainly interesting if this is indeed the case, as a few days seems like a rather short period of time for the mitochondrial densities in the coral tissue to change enough to alter baseline respiration (Pörtner, 2002). Perhaps 5°C isn't a difficult transition from 8°C because they experience slightly cooler water in the winter.

Acclimation to a temperature closer to 5°C would also help to explain the mortality observed at the highest temperature. 13°C is only one degree above their reported thermal range and two degrees below the 30% lethal temperature limit identified by Brooke et al. (2012). 25% of the corals didn't survive a 22-hour exposure to the highest treatment temperature, indicating that the reported upper tolerance of 12°C is accurate when adjusting for the lower baseline. Studies monitoring various environmental parameters of VK826, the site where most of the corals were collected, revealed that the temperature ranges from 6.5–11.6°C and the site can experience small fluctuations in temperature of around 0.5°C over 30 minutes to 0.8°C over 8 hours in 5-11 hour cycles (Davies et al., 2010; Mienis et al., 2012). Therefore, if the corals were acclimatized to 5°C, not only were they exposed to temperatures 8°C higher than what they had become used to, but they were also experiencing a temperature that was higher than anything they ever experience in the field. Brooke et al. (2012) exposed corals to 15°C for 24 hours, 7°C

above the ambient temperature. They all survived, but 30% died within the following week, indicating that 15°C is just above their LT_{25} . Some even survived a 20°C exposure, but all died within the week. Perhaps the combination of temperature stress and declining oxygen was too much for the corals to manage and that is why some of them were unable to handle a temperature increase that they normally would be able to survive for 22 hours (Pörtner, 2002). Some large fragments of *L. pertusa* were brought back to the laboratory after the Gulf cruise and set up in a cold room at 8°C. Unfortunately, the cold room failed sometime over the weekend and the temperature rose to 17°C. This killed all of the corals. It is unknown how long the corals remained at that temperature, but it was somewhere between 24 and 72 hours.

Metabolic enzyme activity correlates well with respiration (Hochachka and Somero, 2002), so CS, MDH, and LDH activities were measured. CS regulates the first step in the Krebs cycle. MDH also plays a part in this cycle, although it has several other roles related to metabolic function. The activities of these two Krebs cycle enzymes are indicators of aerobic function. Temperature did not significantly affect enzyme activity in these experiments. The CS activity values fell within the normal range expected for a cnidarian, however, the MDH values were rather high, coming in at 1.5-2 times the expected level (Thuesen and Childress, 1994). LDH, the terminal enzyme in anaerobic glycolysis, is an indicator of an animal's anaerobic capacity. This enzyme had an activity value too low to be detected; perhaps *L. pertusa* has an analogous enzyme to replace LDH. The coral colonies at VK826 live within an oxygen minimum zone, likely near their P_c (Davies et al., 2010). This region is also subject to high sediment flux due to Mississippi River outflow and algal blooms (Davies et al., 2010; Mienis et al., 2012). Additionally, Brooke et al. (2009) found that *L. pertusa* can tolerate fairly heavy sedimentation. These factors lead to the expectation that Lophelia would be anaerobically

competent and display a high level of LDH activity, considering that it is regularly exposed to low-oxygen conditions. Like some mollusks (Hochachka and Somero 2002), Lophelia may have another terminal enzyme for glycolysis, or the high MDH values may reflect an increase in activity of the malate shuttle to somehow "make up for" an apparent lack of a terminal glycolytic enzyme by being highly efficient in passing the reducing equivalents generated by glycolysis into the mitochondrion during bouts of hypoxia.

The O:N ratios obtained for the Gulf specimens all indicated a pure-protein diet, and this is consistent with environmental observations at VK-826. Both Davies et al. (2010) and Mienis et al. (2012) observed large diel vertical migrations of zooplankton over the reef that could serve as a consistent source of protein. As mentioned previously, *L. pertusa* has been observed to avidly feed on live prey in the field, seeming to prefer it. This does cause a bit of a mystery then, as to why *L. pertusa* from Miami Terrace exhibited an O:N ratio indicative of a lipid-rich diet. In this case, the high lipid catabolism is not very likely to indicate starvation, as this species survives well in laboratory conditions without food. Lee and Mooers (1977) observed migration of zooplankton as deep as 700m on Miami Terrace, so the corals there do have live prey available, although their particular prey spectrum appears to be more lipid-rich than that of the Gulf corals, possibly due to the currents near that particular collection site providing an influx of more lipid-rich species.

In summary, at *in-situ* temperature, *L. pertusa* has a rather high metabolic rate, as compared to cold-water and temperate cnidarians. However, as its slower growth rate would indicate, it has a low metabolic rate compared to tropical corals. This species seems to adapt quickly to temperatures within its normal range. However, when experiencing declining oxygen levels, it struggles to survive at temperatures outside its thermal window. Many *L. pertusa* in the

Gulf of Mexico live in an oxygen minimum zone and near their P_c . With water temperature on the rise, this may have implications for how this species will survive when faced with increased thermal stress. *L. pertusa* does exhibit high aerobic capability, however, which may mean that it is metabolically efficient. With the predicted rise in Gulf temperature being a gradual one, this coral may be in a position to adapt to this change after all.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank the former crew of the R/V *Seward Johnson* and *John-Sea-Link II*, as well as the crew of the NOAA ship *Ronald H. Brown* and *Jason/Medea* pilots. This study was supported by NSF OCE 0727883 to Joseph J. Torres.

References

- Bane JM, Atkinson LP, Brooks DA (2001) Gulf Stream physical oceanography at the Charleston
 Bump: deflection, bimodality, meanders, and upwelling. American Fisheries Society
 Symposium. American Fisheries Society, 2001.
- Brooke S and Young CM (2009) *In situ* measurement of survival and growth of *Lophelia pertusa* in the northern Gulf of Mexico. *Mar Ecol Prog Ser* 397: 153-161.
- Brooke S, Ross SW, Banec JM, Seim HE, Young CM (2012) Temperature tolerance of the deepsea coral Lophelia pertusa from the southeastern United States. *Deep Sea Res* 92:240-248.
- Cairns SD (1994) Scleractinia of the temperate North Pacific. Smithsonian Contributions to Zoology 557, Smithsonian Institution Press, Washington, D.C.
- Clark LC (1956) Monitor and control of blood and tissue oxygen tensions. *Trans Am Soc Artif Internal Organs* 2: 41-48.

- Davies AJ, Duineveld GCA, van Weering TCE, Mienis F, Quattrini AM, Seim HE, Bane JM,
 Ross SW (2010) Short-term environmental variability in cold-water coral habitat at Viosca
 Knoll, Gulf of Mexico. *Deep-Sea Res Pt I* 57(2): 199–212.
- Dodds LA, Roberts JM, Taylor AC, Marubini F (2007) Metabolic tolerance of the cold-water coral *Lophelia pertusa* (Scleractinia) to temperature and dissolved oxygen change. *J Exp Mar Biol Ecol* 349(2): 205-214.

Etnoyer PJ (2010) Deep-sea corals on seamounts. Oceanography 23(1): 128-129.

- Fosså JH, Mortensen JB, Furevik DM (2002) The deep-water coral *Lophelia pertusa* in Norwegian waters: distribution and fishery impacts. *Hydrobiologia* 471:1-12.
- Freiwald A, Hühnerbach V, Lindberg B, Wilson JB, Campbell J (2002) The Sula Reef complex, Norwegian Shelf. *Facies* 47: 179-200.
- Hochachka PW and Somero GN (2002) Biochemical adaptation: mechanism and process in physiological evolution. Vol. 480. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Ikeda T (1974) Nutritional ecology of marine zooplankton. *Mem Fac Fish Hokkaido Univ* 22(1): 1-97.
- Jensen A and Frederiksen R (1992) The fauna associated with the bank-forming deepwater coral Lophelia pertusa (Scleractinia) on the Faroe shelf. *Sarsia* 77(1): 53-69.
- Lee TN and Mooers CNK (1977) Near-bottom temperature and current variability over the Miami Slope and Terrace. *Bull Mar Sci* 27(4): 758-775.
- Mendoza-Alfaro R and Alvarez-Torres P (2012) Gulf of Mexico large marine ecosystem: Resources at risk from climate change. *Frontline Observations* 17:135-169.

- Mickel TJ, Quentin LB, Childress JJ (1983) Construction of a polarographic oxygen sensor in the laboratory. in: Polarographic Oxygen Sensors. Gnaiger, E., Forstner, H. (Eds.), Springer-Verlag, Berlin, pp. 81-89.
- Mienis F, Duineveld GCA, Davies AJ, Ross SW, Seim H, Bane J, van Weering TCE (2012) The influence of near-bed hydrodynamic conditions on cold-water corals in the Viosca Knoll area, Gulf of Mexico. *Deep-Sea Res Pt I* 60:32-45.
- Mortensen PB, Hovland M, Brattegard T, Farestveit R (1995) Deep water bioherms of the scleractinian coral Lophelia pertusa (L.) at 64° n on the Norwegian shelf: Structure and associated megafauna. *Sarsia* 80(2): 145-158.
- Naumann MS, Orejas C, Ferrier-Pagès C (2013) Species-specific physiological response by the cold-water corals *Lophelia pertusa* and *Madrepora oculata* to variations within their natural temperature range. *Deep Sea Res Pt II*, In press. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.dsr2.2013.05.025
- Neulinger SC, Järnegren J, Ludvigsen M, Lochte K, Dullo W-C (2008). Phenotype-specific bacterial communities in the cold-water coral *Lophelia pertusa* (Scleractinia) and their implications for the coral's nutrition, health, and distribution. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 74(23): 7272-7285.
- Pörtner HO (2002) Climate variations and the physiological basis of temperature dependent biogeography: systemic to molecular hierarchy of thermal tolerance in animals. *Comp Biochem Physiol A* 132:739–761.
- Reed JK (1982) *In situ* growth rates of the scleractinian coral *Oculina varicosa* occurring with zooxanthellae on 6 m reefs and without on 80 m banks. *Proc 4th Int Coral Reef Symp* 2: 201-206.

- Reed JK, Gore RH, Scotto LE, Wilson KA (1982) Community composition, structure, areal and trophic relationships of decapods associated with shallow- and deep-water *Oculina varicosa* coral reefs: studies on decapod Crustacea from the Indian River region of Florida, XXIV. *Bull Mar Sci* 32(3): 761-786.
- Reed JK and Mikkelsen PM (1987) The molluscan community associated with the scleractinian coral *Oculina varicosa*. *Bull Mar Sci* 40(1): 99-131.
- Reed JK (2002) Deep-water *Oculina* coral reefs of Florida: biology, impacts, and management. *Hydrobiologia* 471: 43-55.
- Roberts JM (2002) the occurrence of the coral *Lophelia pertusa* and other conspicuous epifauna around an oil platform in the North Sea. *J Society Underwater Tech* 25: 83-91.
- Roberts JM, Wheeler AJ, Freiwald A, Cairns SD (2009) Cold-Water Corals: The Biology and Geology of Deep-Sea Coral Habitats. Cambridge University Press, New York
- Roberts S and Hirshfield M (2004) Deep-sea corals: out of sight, but no longer out of mind. *Ecol Environ* 2(3): 123-130.
- Rogers AD (1999) The biology of *Lophelia pertusa* (Linnaeus 1758) and other deep-water reefforming corals and impacts from human activities. *Internat Rev Hydrobiol* 84: 315-406.
- Szmant AM, Ferrer LM, FitzGerald LM (1990) Nitrogen excretion and O:N ratios in reef corals: evidence for conservation of nitrogen. *Mar Biol* 104: 119-127.
- Thuesen EV and Childress JJ (1994) Oxygen consumption rates and metabolic enzyme activities of oceanic California medusae in relation to body size and habitat depth. *Biol Bull* 187: 84-98.
- Torres JJ and Somero GN (1988) Metabolism, enzyme activities and cold adaptation in Antarctic mesopelagic fishes. *Mar Biol* 98: 169-180.

- Torres JJ, Aarset AV, Donnelly J, Hopkins TL, Lancraft TM, Ainley DG (1994) Metabolism of Antarctic micronektonic Crustacea as a function of depth of occurrence and season. *Mar Ecol Pro Ser* 113:207-219.
- Torres JJ, Brightman RI, Donnelly J, Harvey J (1996) Energetics of larval red drum, *Sciaenops ocellatus*. Part I: Oxygen consumption, specific dynamic action, and nitrogen excretion. *Fish B-NOAA* 94: 756-765.
- Zibrowius H (1980) Les scléractiniaires de la Méditerranée et de l'Atlantique nord-oriental. *Mém Inst Océanogr Monaco* 11:1-284.

Tables and Figures

Treatment	Respiration	CS	MDH	O:N
group	$(\mu mol O_2 g_{wm}^{-1}h^{-1} \pm S.E.)$	$(U g_{wm}^{-1})$	$(U g_{wm}^{-1})$	
8°C Miami	1.16±0.18	0.17±0.01	2.24±0.19	34
8°C Gulf	0.11±0.16	0.13±0.01	1.79±0.02	7
11°C	1.20±0.08	$0.20{\pm}0.02$	1.48±0.11	5
13°C	1.33±0.11	$0.10{\pm}0.01$	1.48±0.12	3
5°C	0.74±0.15	0.18±0.02	1.82±0.22	2

Table 3.1. Summary of data from all treatment groups.



Figure 3.1. Wet mass versus oxygen consumption at 11 and 13°C.



Figure 3.2. *Lophelia* within the metabolic spectrum of cnidarians. *L. pertusa* lies on the high end of the metabolic spectrum compared to some other cnidarians, however, compared to tropical corals, it lies on the lower end, even when assuming a Q_{10} of 2 and adjusting for a temperature of 28°C. Species listed in this graph include medusae (Thuesen and Childress, 1994), zoanthids and anemones (Shick, 1990), a ctenophore (Scolardi et al., 2006), and corals (Buhl-Mortensen et al., 2007; Davies, 1980; Henry and Torres, 2013).

Chapter Four:

Metabolism of an Antarctic solitary coral, *Flabellum impensum*

A Note to Reader

This work has been previously published in the Journal of Experimental Biology and Ecology. Permission to reproduce this work can be found in Appendix I. The author contributed >95% of the work involved in this publication.

Abstract

Few physiological or behavioral studies have been undertaken on the genus *Flabellum*, particularly on Antarctic species. The present study characterizes the metabolism of the endemic Antarctic coral *F. impensum*, one of the world's largest solitary corals, with measurements of oxygen consumption rate and metabolic enzyme activity. *F. impensum* had a low rate of oxygen consumption at 0°C, ranging from 0.06-0.64 μ mol O₂ g_{wm}⁻¹ h⁻¹ and averaging 0.31 μ mol O₂ g_{wm}⁻¹ h⁻¹, calculated using tissue wet mass. Ammonium excretion averaged 4.2 nmol NH₄⁺ g_{wm}⁻¹ h⁻¹ (range: 0.5-14 nmol NH₄⁺ g_{wm}⁻¹ h⁻¹). The activity values of the metabolic enzymes citrate synthase (CS), malate dehydrogenase (MDH), and lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) fell within the normal range expected for a cnidarian, averaging 0.13 (range: 0.04-0.32), 1.0 (range: 0-3.5), and 0.42 (range: 0.18-0.99) activity units (U) g_{wm}⁻¹, respectively. Skeletal density averaged 22% more than the density of pure aragonite and a count of the growth bands on the calva suggests

that this species has a linear extension rate of approximately 1 mm per year. *F. impensum* is a long-lived, slow-growing coral, with a low metabolic rate.

Introduction

Seventeen species of scleractinian corals occur in Antarctic waters. As is true of most highlatitude corals, all Antarctic species are azooxanthellate due to the low temperatures and seasonal swings in irradiance typical of the Antarctic system (Cairns, 1990). The genus *Flabellum* is one of two flabellid genera known to occur in the Antarctic region (Cairns, 1990). Corals within the family Flabellidae are exclusively solitary and the family exhibits a cosmopolitan distribution (Cairns, 1990).

Flabellum impensum is endemic to Antarctica and has a circumpolar distribution at depths of 46-2200 m. It is most commonly found from 100-1000 m (Cairns, 1990, 1982). *F. impensum* is one of the largest flabellate corals and also one of the largest solitary Scleractinia, achieving a height of up to 8 cm. It exhibits quite a variable range of morphologies (Cairns, 1990), causing smaller specimens to be mistaken for other species of *Flabellum*. Habitat information for Antarctic species of *Flabellum* is sparse. However, in the North Atlantic, corals belonging to the genus are abundant on the soft bottom of the continental slope, in abyssal areas, and on the mid-ocean ridge (Buhl-Mortensen et al., 2007; Hamel et al., 2010; Mercier et al., 2011).

Waller et al. (2008) found that *Flabellum impensum* is gonochoric and females brood several stages of planulae year-round. Studies exist for just a handful of other species of *Flabellum* from various sites around the world. Reproductive strategies have been described for *F. curvatum* (Squires, 1962; Waller et al., 2008), *F. thouarsii* (Waller et al., 2008), *F. alabastrum*

(Waller and Tyler, 2011), and *F. angulare* (Mercier et al., 2011; Waller and Tyler, 2011). Those studies revealed that Southern Ocean species of *Flabellum* (*F. curvatum* and *F. thouarsii*) are gonochoric brooders, while North Atlantic species (*F. alabastrum* and *F. angulare*) are gonochoric spawners, producing lecithotrophic larvae. Buhl-Mortensen et al. (2007) studied field/laboratory behavior and respiration in *F. alabastrum* and found that the species is slightly mobile and has a low metabolic rate. Seasonal growth rates described by Hamel et al. (2010) indicated that *F. alabastrum* is also long-lived and slow-growing. Other than what has been ascertained by those few studies, little else is known about the basic biology of corals in the genus *Flabellum*, or that of cold-water corals in general.

Many polar marine species are stenothermal and, with some exceptions, adaptation to their environment includes lower rates of growth and metabolism (Clarke, 1980; Clarke, 1998; Peck, 2002), compared to their non-polar relatives. The present study analyzed the rates of oxygen consumption, nitrogen excretion, and metabolic enzyme activity in order to characterize the metabolism of *F. impensum*.

Materials and Methods

Collection. Corals were collected with a small (10 m) otter trawl by the RVIB *Nathaniel B. Palmer.* Trawls were conducted on the western Antarctic Peninsula during March of 2010 off Anvers and Charcot Islands at 600 m and 200 m depth, respectively. Corals were carefully examined after collection for signs of trauma. Individuals that showed no signs of damage were allowed to recover in pre-chilled seawater in a 0°C incubator for 12-22 hours before being used in any experiments. After the recovery period, only those that were fully extended and that reacted quickly to tactile stimulation were selected for the experiment.

Oxygen consumption experiments. The apparatus for measuring oxygen consumption consisted of an array of water-jacketed lucite chambers as described in Torres et al. (1994). The chambers' construction allowed for water (temperature-controlled by a circulating refrigerated water bath) to continuously flow between their double-layered walls, keeping the seawater and experimental animals in the inner chamber at a constant temperature (0°C). Once sealed, no air can enter or leave the inner chamber. Oxygen microelectrodes (Clark, 1956; Mickel et al., 1983) fabricated in-house were inserted into each chamber to measure oxygen levels of the water inside every 30 seconds, while a magnetic stir bar under a perforated lucite false bottom kept the water well-mixed.

Individual *F. impensum* were placed into chambers appropriate for their size with 0.45 μ m Millipore-filtered seawater. To determine the volume of seawater in the chamber, accounting for the animal, the volume of each coral was calculated as an elliptical cone and subtracted from the previously measured water capacity of each chamber (25 replicates). The water was treated with 25 mg L⁻¹ each of Streptomycin and Neomycin to minimize bacterial growth and a control chamber was run for each experiment to ensure that any microbial consumption had a negligible effect on respiration measurements (Torres et al., 1994). Once the chambers were sealed, the PO₂ of the water was measured continuously for 24 hours. To minimize effects of animal transfer, no data were used until 100 minutes had elapsed. This was the point by which each coral's respiration rate had stabilized. Measurements were taken on a total of 9 specimens; the small sample size was due to the difficulty of obtaining intact individuals. At the end of the experimental runs, all corals appeared healthy, had their tentacles extended, and reacted to tactile stimulation. They were promptly placed into a -80°C freezer for later analysis of metabolic enzymes.

Before and after each run, a 20 ml sample of water was taken from each chamber to be analyzed for ammonium excretion via an auto-analyzer (Oceanic Nutrient Laboratory, University of South Florida).

Enzyme analyses. The frozen samples from the respiration experiments were stabilized at 4°C (the lower limit of the cold room) and weighed using an adaptation of the buoyant weight technique described by Davies (1989). After obtaining the buoyant weight of each sample, the coral tissue was removed from the skeleton using a Waterpik® filled with artificial seawater at 4°C. Per the procedure described in Chapter 2, pieces of tissue were separated from the mucus and excess water, weighed, and homogenized in a glass grinder with an imidazole buffer solution that diluted the samples 1:8. The homogenate was spun down in a centrifuge for 10 minutes at 4500 rpm and the supernatant was used in spectrophotometric analysis of lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), malate dehydrogenase (MDH), and citrate synthase (CS) activity levels at 0°C using the techniques of Torres and Somero (1988).

Skeletal observations. After all the tissue had been cleaned off each calyx, they were soaked in a 10% solution of commercial bleach in seawater for 24 hours to remove any remaining bits of tissue, rinsed three times in artificial seawater, and buoyantly weighed again (all at 4°C) to obtain a value for the percentage buoyant weight of tissue versus skeleton. The skeletons were then rinsed three times with milli-Q water and allowed to soak for another 24 hours to remove the salt before being put into a 60°C drying oven until they reached a constant weight (approximately 3 weeks). The dry weight of each calyx was then measured to calculate skeletal density. The growth bands were also counted for each specimen. The bands in this

calyx, without the aid of stains (Figure 4.1; see page 64) that are necessary for smaller, thickerwalled species (e.g. Goffredo et al., 2004; Hamel et al., 2010).

Results

The corals exhibited a low rate of oxygen consumption, ranging from 0.06-0.64 μ mol O₂ g⁻¹ h⁻¹ and averaging 0.31±0.07 μ mol O₂ g⁻¹ h⁻¹ (±S.E.), using tissue wet mass. Total oxygen consumption increased with increasing wet mass (ANOVA, F=6.23, df=1, p=0.02). However, as is typical of most animal groups (Hemmingsen, 1960), the respiration rate per gram of tissue was lower in the larger corals (Figure 4.2; see page 64).

Ammonium excretion fell between 0.5-14 nmol NH_4^+ g⁻¹ h⁻¹ and averaged 4.2±1.5 nmol NH_4^+ g⁻¹ h⁻¹ (±S.E.), resulting in an O:N atomic ratio (oxygen respiration to ammonium excretion) that ranged from 11-91 and averaged 39. This indicates that individual corals had different prey spectra, although most were catabolizing lipids to some degree (Ikeda, 1974; Mayzaud and Conover, 1988; Szmant et al., 1990). Nitrogen excretion per gram of tissue was lower than expected for the larger specimens, however, excretion did show a general trend of slowly increasing with wet mass (ANOVA, F=5.64, df=1, p=0.03) (Figure 4.2; see page 64).

Activity of CS and MDH fell within the range previously reported for cnidarians, averaging 0.13 ± 0.03 (range: 0.04-0.32) and 1.0 ± 0.3 (range: 0-3.5) activity units (U) g_{wm}^{-1} (±S.E.), respectively, where activity units are micromoles of substrate converted to product per minute. LDH activity was on the higher end of the range for a cnidarian, averaging 0.42 ± 0.08 U g_{wm}^{-1} (range: 0.18-0.99). Mass-specific enzyme activities did not change with increasing mass (all p-values were greater than 0.3). Tissue weight averaged 20% of total buoyant weight and skeletal density averaged 3.58 g cc^{-1} , which is above the density of pure aragonite (2.94 g cc^{-1}), a value that is sometimes assumed in studies where the density of the coral skeleton is used in a calculation. The difference indicates that other substances are being incorporated into the skeletal matrix. Smaller corals (<5 g tissue wet mass) had skeletons whose densities averaged 3.13 g cc^{-1} , which is fairly close to the density of aragonite, while the larger corals (>25 g tissue wet mass) averaged 4.02 g cc^{-1} . Analysis of two "clean" pieces of two different skeletons with a scanning electron microscope (Electron Microscopy Laboratory, University of South Florida) showed that the only element heavier than calcium that was detected at a notable concentration was, as expected, strontium, which averaged about 2% by weight. The high density of the whole skeletons is likely due to the visible sediment incorporated into the skeleton on the "dirty" side of the calyx (Figure 4.3; see page 65), rather than the skeletal matrix taking up heavier elements as it grows.

The growth bands nearest the bottom of the calyx were the thickest (~3-4 mm) and progressively decrease in thickness from the bottom to the top. If these bands are laid down annually, as in other solitary corals (e.g. Goffredo et al., 2004; Hamel et al., 2010), comparing the number of bands to the height of the calyx yields an average linear extension rate of 1.11 mm per year for these specimens.

Discussion

A fairly low rate of oxygen uptake was measured for *Flabellum impensum* (an average of $0.31\pm0.07 \mu mol O_2 g^{-1} h^{-1}$ tissue wet mass), placing it in the lower half of the metabolic spectrum when compared to other scleractinians for which there are such data, even with a Q₁₀ correction for temperature (assuming Q₁₀=2) (Table 4.1; see page 66).

As sessile species, most corals have low activity costs and are therefore likely to have a low metabolism, particularly in polar or other cold-water environments. Most species of *Flabellum*, however, are more active than other corals; they are free-living individuals as adults and are capable of movement. Captive individuals of *F. alabastrum* have been observed leaving tracks in the sediment at a rate of 3.2 cm mo⁻¹. Moreover, the polyp can inflate to more than 10x its normal, relaxed (not retracted) size, which would give it the ability to use currents as a means of transportation (Buhl-Mortensen et al., 2007). At the end of some experimental runs, the larger coral polyps had expanded within the respiration chamber. Presumably, as the oxygen concentration in the chamber decreased, the polyps expanded to facilitate oxygen uptake over a greater surface area. Alternately, it may have been an attempt to "escape" the declining oxygen in the chamber. Despite the behavioral response, the PO₂ within the chambers never dipped below 35 mm Hg and respiratory rate remained constant over the course of the experiment, suggesting that the corals remained well above their P_c.

Buhl-Mortensen et al. (2007) found that *F. alabastrum* had a respiratory rate (2.2 μ l O₂ g⁻¹ h⁻¹ tissue wet mass= 0.10 μ mol O₂ g⁻¹ h⁻¹) lower than that of *F. impensum*. Further, Hamel et al. (2010) reported that *F. alabastrum* was a slow growing coral, reaching its maximum height of about 43 mm at about 45 years of age. Goffredo et al. (2004) studied a Mediterranean solitary coral, *Balanophyllia europaea*, and determined its maximum size to be about 20 mm after as many years. The maximum size of specimens used in the present study was 62 mm, and with a metabolic rate in the same range as that of *F. alabastrum*, it is likely that it has a similar growth rate. Cairns (1990) noted a maximum size of 80 mm for *F. impensum*, meaning that the species may live to be around 80 years of age. The specimens examined in the present study appeared to have annual growth bands similar to those described by Goffredo et al. (2004) and Hamel et al.

(2010), with the thickest bands occurring before the age of 5 years and gradually thinning as the coral aged, indicating greater linear extension in earlier years. This result correlates well with the oxygen consumption data, as more energy is needed for growth in the early years, accounting for the large differences in metabolic rate among the smaller specimens. As the corals age, the metabolic rate still increases, as the calyx is becoming wider and the coral has a larger body to support. However, less linear extension is occurring in the calyx, so the rise in metabolic rate decreases. This may also explain why the smaller corals had skeletal densities closer to that of pure aragonite as compared to their larger counterparts.

Young corals, which grow quickly and live upright, attached to a substrate, may be exposed to fewer particles that could become incorporated into their skeletal matrix than that of older, slower-growing and mobile individuals that are in constant contact with the sediment. Buhl-Mortensen et al. (2007) noted that in addition to lateral movement across the sediment, *F. alabastrum* was also capable of rotating and righting itself if placed upside-down. Cairns (1990) postulated that *F. impensum*, after reaching a size at which it becomes dislodged from the substrate on which it settled as a planula, remains in an upright position, possibly by partially burying itself in the sediment. This was based on his observation of the placement of epibionts on the skeleton. All specimens collected for this study had a worn pedicel, which indicates they had long been detached from their substrate. The larger *F. impensum* appeared to have been lying in a prone position, as one side of the skeleton appeared "dirtier" than the other, with more bits of debris embedded in the skeleton. This also suggests a "preferred" side upon which to rest, which would be possible if they have the same ability as *F. alabastrum* to rotate. This was less apparent in the smaller specimens, which had no noticeable epibionts or skeletal inclusions.

Oxygen consumption isn't the only variable that can differ between a polar coral and its temperate and tropical relatives. The enzyme-mediated metabolic reactions of a polar marine invertebrate can be 10-30 times slower than that of its tropical counterpart (Clarke, 1998). Decreases in environmental temperature reduce the number of enzyme molecules available with enough energy to catalyze their respective reactions. Animals that compensate for such environmental differences exhibit 1) an increase in the number of enzyme molecules present, 2) a different type of enzyme used to catalyze a specific reaction, or 3) a modified activity rate of the enzymes (Hochachka and Somero, 1973). With no observable compensation in oxygen uptake, it is unlikely that *F. impensum* has evolved any change in the activity of its metabolic enzymes, as metabolic enzyme activity tends to correlate with respiration.

Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) is the terminal enzyme in anaerobic glycolysis and its activity in an organism is an indicator of the individual's anaerobic capacity. Citrate synthase (CS) regulates the first step in the Krebs cycle, and malate dehydrogenase (MDH) also plays a role in this cycle, although it has several other functions related to metabolism. The activities of the two Krebs cycle enzymes are indicators of aerobic function. Activities of CS and MDH (0.13 ± 0.03 and 1.0 ± 0.3 U g⁻¹, respectively) extracted from *F. impensum* fell within the ranges measured for medusae (Table 4.1; see page 66), indicating that it is similarly aerobically poised. The LDH activity (0.42 ± 0.08 U g⁻¹), however, was on the higher end of the range reported for other enidarians, indicating a moderate anaerobic potential as well. Perhaps if sediment becomes disturbed (glacial activity, movement of another animal) near an individual and it has the capacity to inflate enough to use currents as a means of transportation, as Buhl-Mortensen et al. (2007) have suggested, it may need to temporarily rely on anaerobic respiration to dislodge itself and move to another location.

F. impensum excreted 4.2 ± 1.5 nmol NH₄⁺ g⁻¹ h⁻¹. The O:N atomic ratio ranged from 11-91 and averaged 39, indicating that lipids are an important component in this coral's diet (Ikeda, 1974; Youngbluth et al., 1988). Many planktonic Antarctic organisms experience a drop in their metabolism during the winter and go into a state of reduced activity. To prepare for this, they store lipids. The lipid-rich animals form part of the coral's diet and contribute to its lipid stores. Lipids then become a significant metabolite when the corals are not feeding.

In summary, the endemic Antarctic coral, *F. impensum*, like other related solitary corals, is slow-growing and has a low metabolic rate. It is one of the largest solitary corals, displays reasonable aerobic and anaerobic capacity, has a lipid-rich diet, and is quite long-lived, possibly capable of reaching 80 years in age. Polar corals are not a well-studied group; this study adds much needed information to the body of knowledge concerning them, as well as contributing new physiological insights pertaining to the genus, *Flabellum*.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank the United States Antarctic Program, the crew and technicians aboard the R/V Nathaniel B. Palmer, and all the hard-working scientists and graduate students who helped recover samples from the trawls. We would also like to thank Matthew Potter, Robert Masserini, and Tony Greco for help with data collection and the reviewers that helped to improve this manuscript. This study was conducted under NSF grants OCE0727883 and OPP 0741348 to J.J. Torres.

References

- Buhl-Mortensen L, Mortensen PB, Armsworthy S, Jackson D (2007) Field observations of *Flabellum* spp. and laboratory study of the behavior and respiration of *Flabellum alabastrum*. *Bull Mar Sci* 81(3):543-552.
- Cairns SD (1982) Antarctic and Subantarctic Scleractinia. Biology of the Antarctic Seas XI: Antarctic Research Series 34: 1-74.
- Cairns SD (1990) Antarctic Scleractinia. in: Wagele, J.W., Sieg, J. (Eds.), Synopses of the Antarctic Benthos. Koeltz Scientific Books, Koenigstein, pp. 1-78.
- Clark LC (1956) Monitor and control of blood and tissue oxygen tensions. *Trans Am Soc Artif Internal Organs* 2: 41-48.
- Clarke A (1980) A reappraisal of the concept of metabolic cold adaptation in polar marine invertebrates. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* 14(1): 77–92.
- Clarke A (1998) Temperature and energetic: an introduction to cold ocean physiology. in:Pörtner, H.O., Playle, R.C. (Eds.), Cold ocean physiology. Society for ExperimentalBiology Seminar Series 66. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 3-30.
- Davies PS (1980) Respiration in some Atlantic reef corals in relation to vertical distribution and growth form. *Biol Bull* 158: 187-194.
- Davies PS (1989) Short-term growth measurements of corals using an accurate buoyant weighing technique. *Mar Biol* 101: 389-395.
- Goffredo S, Mattioli G, Zaccanti F (2004) Growth and population dynamics model of the
 Mediterranean solitary coral *Balanophyllia europaea* (Scleractinia, Dendrophylliidae).
 Coral Reefs 23(3): 433-443.

- Hamel JF, Sun Z, Mercier A (2010) Influence of size and seasonal factors in the growth of the deep-sea coral *Flabellum alabastrum* in mesocosm. *Coral Reefs* 29: 521-525.
- Hemmingsen AM (1960) Energy metabolism as related to body size and respiratory surfaces, and its evolution. *Reports of the Steno Memorial Hospital and Nordisk Insulin Laboratorium* 9: 6–110.
- Hochachka PW and Somero GN (1973) Strategies of Biochemical Adaptation. W.B. Saunders, Philadelphia.
- Ikeda T (1974) Nutritional ecology of marine zooplankton. *Mem Fac Fish Hokkaido Univ* 22(1): 1-97.
- Ikeda T and Bruce B (1986) Metabolic activity and elemental composition of krill and other zooplankton from Prydz Bay, Antarctica, during early summer (November-December). *Mar Biol* 92: 545-555.
- Mayzaud P and Conover RJ (1988) O:N atomic ratio as a tool to describe zooplankton metabolism. *Mar Ecol Prog Ser* 45: 289-302.
- Mercier A, Sun Z, Hamel J-F (2011) Reproductive periodicity, spawning, and development of the deep-sea scleractinian coral *Flabellum angulare*. *Mar Biol* 158: 371-380.
- Mickel TJ, Quentin LB, Childress JJ (1983) Construction of a polarographic oxygen sensor in the laboratory. in: Polarographic Oxygen Sensors. Gnaiger, E., Forstner, H. (Eds.), Springer-Verlag, Berlin, pp. 81-89.
- Peck LS (2002) Ecophysiology of Antarctic marine ectotherms: limits to life. *Polar Biol* 25: 31-40.
- Scolardi KM, Daly KL, Pakhomov EA, Torres JJ (2006) Feeding ecology and metabolism of the Antarctic cydippid ctenophore *Callianira antarctica*. *Mar Ecol Prog Ser* 317: 111-126.

- Shick JM (1990) Diffusion limitation and hyperoxic enhancement of oxygen consumption in zooxanthellate sea anemones, zoanthids, and corals. *Biol Bull* 179: 148-158.
- Squires DF (1962) Deep sea corals collected by the Lamont Geological Observatory. 3 Larvae of the Argentine coral *Flabellum curvatum* Moseley. *American Museum Novitates* 2078: 1-11.
- Szmant AM, Ferrer LM, FitzGerald LM (1990) Nitrogen excretion and O:N ratios in reef corals: evidence for conservation of nitrogen. *Mar Biol* 104: 119-127.
- Thuesen EV and Childress JJ (1994) Oxygen consumption rates and metabolic enzyme activities of oceanic California medusae in relation to body size and habitat depth. *Biol Bull* 187: 84-98.
- Torres JJ and Somero GN (1988) Metabolism, enzyme activities and cold adaptation in Antarctic mesopelagic fishes. *Mar Biol* 98: 169-180.
- Torres JJ, Aarset AV, Donnelly J, Hopkins TL, Lancraft TM, Ainley DG (1994) Metabolism of Antarctic micronektonic Crustacea as a function of depth of occurrence and season. *Mar Ecol Prog Ser* 113: 207-219.
- Waller RG, Tyler PA, Smith CR (2008) Fecundity and embryo development of three Antarctic deep-water scleractinians: *Flabellum thouarsii*, *F. curvatum*, and *F. impensum*. *Deep-Sea Res II* 55: 2527-2534.
- Waller RG and Tyler PA (2011) Reproductive patterns in two deep-water solitary corals from the north-east Atlantic- *Flabellum alabastrum* and *F. angulare* (Cnidaria: Anthozoa: Scleractinia). *J Mar Biol Assoc UK* 91(3): 669-675.
Youngbluth MJ, Kremer P, Bailey TG, Jacoby CA (1988) Chemical composition, metabolic rates and feeding behavior of the midwater ctenophore *Bathocyroe fosteri*. *Mar Biol* 98: 87-94.

Tables and Figures



Figure 4.1. A close-up of a specimen of *F. impensum*. Growth bands are clearly visible on the calyx surface.



Figure 4.2. *F. impensum* respiration and nitrogen excretion rates in relation to wet mass. Increasing body size results in an increased respiratory rate (p=0.005), but as the corals near their maximum size, this increase slows. Nitrogen excretion is variable, but does show some increase with mass in smaller specimens (p=0.01).



Figure 4.3. The "dirty" versus "clean" side of the calyx of an *F. impensum* specimen.

animal	species	O_2 consumption (mean+ S E)	T _{resp}	CS activity	LDH activity	MDH activity	T _{enzymes}	source
		$(\mu mol O_2 g_{ww}^{-1} h^{-1})$	(°C)	(units $g^{-1} \pm S.E.$)	(units $g^{-1} \pm S.E.$)	(units $g^{-1} \pm S.E.$)	(°C)	
scleractinian	Flabellum impensum	0.313±0.074	0	0.126±0.029	0.423±0.083	1.008±0.344	0	this study
scleractinian	Flabellum alabastrum	0.10	7.7	na	na	na	na	Buhl-Mortensen et al., 2007
scleractinian	Montastrea annularis	3.33	28	na	na	na	na	Davies, 1980
scleractinian	Acropora palmata	7.41	28	na	na	na	na	Davies, 1980
scleractinian	Acropora cervicornis	8.84	28	na	na	na	na	Davies, 1980
scleractinian	Montastrea cavernosa	1.53	28	na	na	na	na	Davies, 1980
scleractinian	Agaricia lamarcki	19.98	28	na	na	na	na	Davies, 1980
scleractinian	Agaricia undata	12.34	28	na	na	na	na	Davies, 1980
scleractinian	Agaricia grahamae	7.14	28	na	na	na	na	Davies, 1980
alcyonacean	Gersemia rubiformis	1.0	3-5	na	na	na	na	Hargrave et al., 2004
alcyonacean	Acanella arbuscula	1.4	3-5	na	na	na	na	Hargrave et al., 2004
zoanthid	Protopalythoa sp.	9.7	30	na	na	na	na	Shick, 1990
zoanthid	Zoanthus sociatus	0.38	25	na	na	na	na	Shick, 1990
anemone	Phyllodiscus semoni	1.9	30	na	na	na	na	Shick, 1990
anemone	Heteractis crispa	0.91	30	na	na	na	na	Shick, 1990
medusa	Polyorchis penicillatus	na	na	0.238 ± 0.029	0.172±0.016	0.939±0.019	20	Thuesen and Childress, 1994
medusa	Haliscera bigelowi	0.128 ± 0.030	5	nd	0.028 ± 0.009	na	20	Thuesen and Childress, 1994
medusa	Halitrephes maasi	0.046 ± 0.006	5	0.004 ± 0.001	0.017 ± 0.005	na	20	Thuesen and Childress, 1994
medusa	Crossota rufobrunnea	0.154±0.024	5	0.147±0.013	0.011±0.007	0.578±0.432	20	Thuesen and Childress, 1994
medusa	Vallentinia adherens	1.932±0.478	15	3.563±0.860	0.057 ± 0.008	na	20	Thuesen and Childress, 1994
medusa	Aegina citrea	0.185±0.037	5	0.043 ± 0.007	0.085±0.015	0.624 ± 0.084	20	Thuesen and Childress, 1994
medusa	Atolla wyvillei	0.134 ± 0.044	5	nd	0.243±0.055	0.768 ± 0.208	20	Thuesen and Childress, 1994
medusa	Paraphyllina ransoni	0.333±0.104	5	0.124±0.044	0.195±0.088	na	20	Thuesen and Childress, 1994
medusa	Periphylla periphylla	0.094 ± 0.017	5	0.017±0.003	1.711±0.552	0.669±0.144	20	Thuesen and Childress, 1994
ctenophore	Callianira antarctica	0.35±0.18	0.5	na	na	na	na	Scolardi et al., 2006
ctenophore	Beroe sp.	0.044	-1.5	na	na	na	na	Ikeda and Bruce, 1986
ctenophore	Mertensiidae sp.	0.237	-1.6	na	na	na	na	Ikeda and Bruce, 1986

Table 4.1. Respiration and enzymes in comparable cnidarians. A 95% water content was assumed for values expressed relative to dry weight in order to convert to μ mol $O_2 g_{ww}^{-1} h^{-1}$. ("na"= not measured , "nd"= not detected)

Chapter Five:

Concluding Remarks

Symbiosis between corals and their algal symbionts evolved as a mechanism to maintain a competitive edge within shallow oligotrophic waters; however, lack of symbiosis has not impeded the success of corals in the deep. Despite the fact that shallow water corals are susceptible to bleaching events that disrupt their symbiosis, many species can eventually recover and some do not appear to suffer much damage from the process. From the experiments conducted on three different types of corals from different light, temperature, and depth regimes, it can be concluded that:

- *Cladocora arbuscula*, one of the most abundant species of endemic scleractinian corals off the west central coast of Florida, thrives in a region subject to red-tides, intermittent high sedimentation, and the occasional hurricane. Data from the experiments described here show that its metabolic rate is on the lower end of the spectrum for sub/tropical cnidarians, suggesting that it has a low growth rate that is similar to the Mediterranean *C. caespitosa*. In spite of this, its high levels of both aerobic and anaerobic enzyme function allow it to thrive in this environment, even when faced with conditions that cause widespread coral bleaching. Although these experiments have shown that *C. arbuscula* can function well without zooxanthellae, it seems to function most optimally with endosymbionts as members of the holobiont.

- The deep-sea coral, *Lophelia pertusa*, has a high metabolic rate compared to cold-water and temperate cnidarians at *in-situ* temperature, which, expectedly, is low compared to tropical corals. Calculating the Q_{10} for bringing *L. pertusa* up to the environmental temperature of *Cladocora arbuscula* results in a value of 1.8. This species seems to adapt quickly to temperatures within its described normal range, however, declining oxygen levels threaten its survival at temperatures higher than it normally experiences. Many *L. pertusa* in the Gulf of Mexico live in an oxygen minimum zone and near their P_c. With water temperature on the rise, this may have implications for how this species will survive when faced with increased thermal stress. *L. pertusa* does exhibit high aerobic capability, however, which may mean that it is metabolically more efficient. It is likely anaerobically efficient as well, despite the apparent lack of LDH. With the predicted rise in Gulf temperature being a gradual one, this coral may be in a position to adapt to this change.

- Polar corals are not a well-studied group. The endemic Antarctic coral, *Flabellum impensum*, like other related solitary corals, is slow-growing and has a low metabolic rate. Calculating a Q_{10} for this species at *Cladocora arbuscula*'s habitat temperature results in a value of 2.7. It is one of the largest solitary corals, displays reasonable aerobic and anaerobic capacity, has a lipid-rich diet, and is quite long-lived, possibly capable of reaching 80 years in age. This study adds much needed information to the body of knowledge concerning them, as well as contributing new physiological insights pertaining to the genus, *Flabellum*.

In the past, only shallow water corals such as *C. arbuscula* were given the honor of being thought of as great habitat builders that house and protect many other animal species. It is now known that many corals in the mid- to deep-sea can serve this same function. Gulf and Atlantic *L. pertusa* reefs provide habitat to thousands of species from a wide range of phyla and can have

several times the diversity of the surrounding soft bottom. They create patches of high diversity in low-diversity environments, which is possible because they occur in a relatively stable environment with a predictable food supply. Deep-sea corals represent an important ecological niche in that they can block currents and predators, act as a nursery habitat, and provide feeding, breeding, and spawning ground for economically valuable species. Although thousands of deepsea corals have been described, researchers estimate that 800 stony species and their associates have yet to be encountered.

Exploitation of deep-sea reefs by humans has been rapidly increasing despite the lack of biological and ecological information. It is already known that shallow-water corals recover slowly after an acute trauma, and it is likely that deep-sea reefs are even more sensitive to destruction. Natural and anthropogenic causes are to blame for the state of decline both shallow-water and deep-sea reefs are in a today, as compared to a century ago. It is important to characterize the biology of corals so that resource managers can have the information necessary to allow them to appropriately regulate anthropogenic activities in and around reef environments. It is also necessary to have a better understanding of coral physiology so that we may have a sense of how corals are going to respond to changes in climate, natural disasters, or human-mediated environmental catastrophes.

69

Appendix I

Rightslink Printable License

ELSEVIER LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Oct 18, 2013

This is a License Agreement between Lara Henry ("You") and Elsevier ("Elsevier") provided by Copyright Clearance Center ("CCC"). The license consists of your order details, the terms and conditions provided by Elsevier, and the payment terms and conditions.

All payments must be made in full to CCC. For payment instructions, please see information listed at the bottom of this form.

Supplier	Elsevier Limited The Boulevard,Langford Lane Kidlington,Oxford,OX5 1GB,UK
Registered Company Number	1982084
Customer name	Lara Henry
Customer address	140 7th Ave. S.
	SAINT PETERSBURG, FL 33701
License number	3251720847317
License date	Oct 18, 2013
Licensed content publisher	Elsevier
Licensed content publication	Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology
Licensed content title	Metabolism of an Antarctic solitary coral, Flabellum impensum
Licensed content author	Lara V. Henry,Joseph J. Torres
Licensed content date	November 2013
Licensed content volume number	449
Licensed content issue number	
Number of pages	5
Start Page	17
End Page	21
Type of Use	reuse in a thesis/dissertation
Portion	full article
Format	electronic
Are you the author of this Elsevier article?	Yes
Will you be translating?	No
Order reference number	1

https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServlet

10/18/13	Rightslink Printable License				
Title of your thesis/dissertation	Metabolism in corals from Antarctica, the deep-sea, and the shallow subtropics: contrasts in temperature, depth, and light				
Expected completion date	Nov 2013				
Estimated size (number of pages)	65				
Elsevier VAT number	GB 494 6272 12				
Permissions price	0.00 USD				
VAT/Local Sales Tax	0.0 USD / 0.0 GBP				
Total	0.00 USD				
Terms and Conditions					

INTRODUCTION

1. The publisher for this copyrighted material is Elsevier. By clicking "accept" in connection with completing this licensing transaction, you agree that the following terms and conditions apply to this transaction (along with the Billing and Payment terms and conditions established by Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. ("CCC"), at the time that you opened your Rightslink account and that are available at any time at http://myaccount.copyright.com).

GENERAL TERMS

2. Elsevier hereby grants you permission to reproduce the aforementioned material subject to the terms and conditions indicated.

3. Acknowledgement: If any part of the material to be used (for example, figures) has appeared in our publication with credit or acknowledgement to another source, permission must also be sought from that source. If such permission is not obtained then that material may not be included in your publication/copies. Suitable acknowledgement to the source must be made, either as a footnote or in a reference list at the end of your publication, as follows:

"Reprinted from Publication title, Vol/edition number, Author(s), Title of article / title of chapter, Pages No., Copyright (Year), with permission from Elsevier [OR APPLICABLE SOCIETY COPYRIGHT OWNER]." Also Lancet special credit - "Reprinted from The Lancet, Vol number, Author(s), Title of article, Pages No., Copyright (Year), with permission from Elsevier."

4. Reproduction of this material is confined to the purpose and/or media for which permission is hereby given.

5. Altering/Modifying Material: Not Permitted. However figures and illustrations may be altered/adapted minimally to serve your work. Any other abbreviations, additions, deletions and/or any other alterations shall be made only with prior written authorization of Elsevier Ltd. (Please contact Elsevier at permissions@elsevier.com)

6. If the permission fee for the requested use of our material is waived in this instance, please be advised that your future requests for Elsevier materials may attract a fee.

7. Reservation of Rights: Publisher reserves all rights not specifically granted in the combination of (i) the license details provided by you and accepted in the course of this licensing transaction, (ii) https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServlet 10/18/13 Rightslink Printable License these terms and conditions and (iii) CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions.

8. License Contingent Upon Payment: While you may exercise the rights licensed immediately upon issuance of the license at the end of the licensing process for the transaction, provided that you have disclosed complete and accurate details of your proposed use, no license is finally effective unless and until full payment is received from you (either by publisher or by CCC) as provided in CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. If full payment is not received on a timely basis, then any license preliminarily granted shall be deemed automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Further, in the event that you breach any of these terms and conditions or any of CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, the license is automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Use of materials as described in a revoked license, as well as any use of the materials beyond the scope of an unrevoked license, may constitute copyright infringement and publisher reserves the right to take any and all action to protect its copyright in the materials.

9. Warranties: Publisher makes no representations or warranties with respect to the licensed material.

10. Indemnity: You hereby indemnify and agree to hold harmless publisher and CCC, and their respective officers, directors, employees and agents, from and against any and all claims arising out of your use of the licensed material other than as specifically authorized pursuant to this license.

11. No Transfer of License: This license is personal to you and may not be sublicensed, assigned, or transferred by you to any other person without publisher's written permission.

12. No Amendment Except in Writing: This license may not be amended except in a writing signed by both parties (or, in the case of publisher, by CCC on publisher's behalf).

13. Objection to Contrary Terms: Publisher hereby objects to any terms contained in any purchase order, acknowledgment, check endorsement or other writing prepared by you, which terms are inconsistent with these terms and conditions or CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. These terms and conditions, together with CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions (which are incorporated herein), comprise the entire agreement between you and publisher (and CCC) concerning this licensing transaction. In the event of any conflict between your obligations established by these terms and conditions and those established by CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, these terms and conditions shall control.

14. Revocation: Elsevier or Copyright Clearance Center may deny the permissions described in this License at their sole discretion, for any reason or no reason, with a full refund payable to you. Notice of such denial will be made using the contact information provided by you. Failure to receive such notice will not alter or invalidate the denial. In no event will Elsevier or Copyright Clearance Center be responsible or liable for any costs, expenses or damage incurred by you as a result of a denial of your permission request, other than a refund of the amount(s) paid by you to Elsevier and/or Copyright Clearance Center for denied permissions.

LIMITED LICENSE

The following terms and conditions apply only to specific license types:

https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServlet

10/18/13

Rightslink Printable License

15. **Translation**: This permission is granted for non-exclusive world **English** rights only unless your license was granted for translation rights. If you licensed translation rights you may only translate this content into the languages you requested. A professional translator must perform all translations and reproduce the content word for word preserving the integrity of the article. If this license is to re-use 1 or 2 figures then permission is granted for non-exclusive world rights in all languages.

16. Website: The following terms and conditions apply to electronic reserve and author websites: Electronic reserve: If licensed material is to be posted to website, the web site is to be password-protected and made available only to bona fide students registered on a relevant course if.

This license was made in connection with a course,

This permission is granted for 1 year only. You may obtain a license for future website posting, All content posted to the web site must maintain the copyright information line on the bottom of each image,

A hyper-text must be included to the Homepage of the journal from which you are licensing at http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/xxxxx or the Elsevier homepage for books at http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/xxxxx or the Elsevier homepage for books at http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/xxxxx or the Elsevier homepage for books at http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/xxxxx or the Elsevier homepage for books at http://www.elsevier.com and

Central Storage: This license does not include permission for a scanned version of the material to be stored in a central repository such as that provided by Heron/XanEdu.

17. Author website for journals with the following additional clauses:

All content posted to the web site must maintain the copyright information line on the bottom of each image, and the permission granted is limited to the personal version of your paper. You are not allowed to download and post the published electronic version of your article (whether PDF or HTML, proof or final version), nor may you scan the printed edition to create an electronic version. A hyper-text must be included to the Homepage of the journal from which you are licensing at http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/xxxxx. As part of our normal production process, you will receive an e-mail notice when your article appears on Elsevier's online service ScienceDirect (www.sciencedirect.com). That e-mail will include the article's Digital Object Identifier (DOI). This number provides the electronic link to the published article and should be included in the posting of your personal version. We ask that you wait until you receive this e-mail and have the DOI to do any posting.

Central Storage: This license does not include permission for a scanned version of the material to be stored in a central repository such as that provided by Heron/XanEdu.

18. Author website for books with the following additional clauses:

Authors are permitted to place a brief summary of their work online only.

A hyper-text must be included to the Elsevier homepage at <u>http://www.elsevier.com</u>. All content posted to the web site must maintain the copyright information line on the bottom of each image. You are not allowed to download and post the published electronic version of your chapter, nor may you scan the printed edition to create an electronic version.

Central Storage: This license does not include permission for a scanned version of the material to be stored in a central repository such as that provided by Heron/XanEdu. https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServlet 10/18/13

Rightslink Printable License

19. Website (regular and for author): A hyper-text must be included to the Homepage of the journal from which you are licensing at <u>http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/xxxxx</u>. or for books to the Elsevier homepage at http://www.elsevier.com

20. **Thesis/Dissertation**: If your license is for use in a thesis/dissertation your thesis may be submitted to your institution in either print or electronic form. Should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for permission. These requirements include permission for the Library and Archives of Canada to supply single copies, on demand, of the complete thesis and include permission for UMI to supply single copies, on demand, of the complete thesis. Should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for permission.

21. Other Conditions:

v1.6

If you would like to pay for this license now, please remit this license along with your payment made payable to "COPYRIGHT CLEARANCE CENTER" otherwise you will be invoiced within 48 hours of the license date. Payment should be in the form of a check or money order referencing your account number and this invoice number RLNK501138245. Once you receive your invoice for this order, you may pay your invoice by credit card. Please follow instructions provided at that time.

Make Payment To: Copyright Clearance Center Dept 001 P.O. Box 843006 Boston, MA 02284-3006

For suggestions or comments regarding this order, contact RightsLink Customer Support: <u>customercare@copyright.com</u> or +1-877-622-5543 (toll free in the US) or +1-978-646-2777.

Gratis licenses (referencing \$0 in the Total field) are free. Please retain this printable license for your reference. No payment is required.

https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServlet

About the Author

Lara Henry was born and raised in San Francisco, California. She graduated from the University of California at Davis in 2002 with a B.S. in Neurobiology, Physiology, and Behavior in preparation for medical school. After an intensive marine science course at the Bodega Marine Laboratory in Bodega Bay, CA and a marine science teaching internship at the Marine Resources Development Foundation Marine Lab in Key Largo, FL, she decided to instead pursue oceanography. She received a Howard Hughes Medical Institute scholarship for a marine science apprenticeship at the Friday Harbor Marine Laboratory in Friday Harbor, WA where she gained valuable field and laboratory experience in comparative invertebrate physiology. In 2005, Lara was admitted into the graduate program at the College of Marine Science at the University of South Florida. She joined the Physiology Laboratory in 2007 to begin studying coral physiology under the guidance of her wise and patient advisor, Dr. Joseph J. Torres. For her own research purposes, as well as those of other Physiology Lab members, Lara has spent nearly 2000 hours at sea. Her research has allowed her to travel all over the Gulf of Mexico, dive to the cold depths of the Atlantic Ocean in a manned submersible, and to traverse the frozen seas of Antarctica (for which she was awarded the Antarctica Service Medal and Certificate from the National Science Foundation in 2010).